
DOLMEN CITY REIT
ANNUAL REPORT

2024

MANAGED BY

Arif Habib Centre, 23, M.T.Khan Road, Karachi.

021-111-245-111

www.arifhabibdolmenreit.com



29

 35

 37

Pattern of Unit holding

Financial Highlights

Statutory Reports

 41
 39

Valuation Report
Shariah Review Report

 81

 82

Review Report to the Unit Holders on
Statement of Compliance with
Code of Corporate Governance

Financial Statements  91

 121Directors’ Report in Urdu Language

  85Independent Auditor’s Report

Statement of Compliance with Code
of Corporate Governance

3
5

9

13

Scheme’s Information
Vision, Mission and Delivering Value

Directors’ Profile

Chairman’s Review

15Directors’ Report

TABLE OF CONTENTS



Dolmen City REIT
Scheme's Information

Management Company Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited 
  
Board of Directors Mr. Arif Habib    Chairman
 Mr. Nadeem Riaz    Director
 Mr. Naeem Ilyas   Independent Director
 Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed   Independent Director
 Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter Independent Director
 Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib   Director
 Mr. Faisal Nadeem    Director
 Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh   Director
 Mr. Muhammad Ejaz   Chief Executive Officer

Audit Committee Mr. Naeem Ilyas   Chairman
 Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib   Member
 Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh   Member
 Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter Member
  

Human Resource &  
Remuneration Committee Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed   Chairperson
 Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib   Member
 Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh   Member
 Mr. Muhammad Ejaz   Member
  

Other Executives: Mr. Razi Haider  CFO & Company Secretary
 Mr. Sajjad Usman  Head of Internal Audit & Compliance
  
Trustee Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited  
 CDC House, 99-B, Block “B” S.M.C.H.S.  
 Main Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi. 
  
Share Registrar CDC Share Registrar Services Limited  
 CDC House, 99-B, Block “B” S.M.C.H.S.  
 Main Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi. 
  
Bankers Bank Al Habib Limited Askari Bank Limited
 Faysal Bank Limited Habib Bank Limited
 Habib Metropolitian Bank Limited Meezan Bank Limited
 United Bank Limited Allied Bank Limited
 Bank Alfalah Limited Dubai Islamic Bank
 National Bank of Pakistan
  
External Auditor KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co. Chartered Accountant, Sheikh Sultan Trust 
 Building No.2, Beaumont Road, Civil Lines, Karachi, 75530 
  
Internal Auditor Junaidy Shoaib Asad & Co. Chartered Accountants,
 1/6-P, P.E.C.H.S.,Mohtarma Laeeq Begum Road, 
 Off Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi. 
  
Legal Advisor Mohsin Tayabaly & CO. Corporate Legal Consultants, 1st Floor, Dime  
 Center, BC -4 Block 9, Kekashan, Clifton Karachi. 
  
Property Manager Dolmen Real Estate Managemet (Private) Limited.
  
Property Valuer  MYK Associates (Pvt.) Limited MYK HOUSE, 52-A, Block ‘B’, Street # 5,  
 Muslim Cooperative Housing Society (S.M.C.H.S.), Karachi.
  
Shariah Advisor Alhamd  Shariah Advisor Service (Private) Limited.  

Rating Agency VIS Credit Rating Company Limited VIS House,128/C,25th Lane Off   
 Khayaban-e-Ittehad,Phase VII,DHA,Karachi. 
  
Current Ratings DCR Rating: AAA (rr) (REIT Rating)
 RMC Rating: AM2+ (RMC) (Management Quality Rating).
  
Registered Office of Arif Habib Centre, 23 M.T. Khan Road, Karachi.  
Management Company

Annual Report 2024 | 04



VISION
- “all eyes on you”
As Pakistan’s first REIT, DCR aims to maintain its position as the premier
office and retail Real Estate Investment Trust.

MISSION
- “challenge the status quo and try new things”
Be a space where people aspire to work
Inspiring you to achieve more

Be the place where people love to shop
Enhance the customer experience to maximize shopper loyalty

To be the landlord of choice
Optimizing the tenancy mix through proactive leasing

DELIVERING VALUE
- “security, stability, resilience”
Providing our unit holders with regular, stable distributions and sustainable long term growth.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE
Mr. Arif Habib
Chairman

Mr. Arif Habib is the Chairman of Arif Habib Group and 
Chief Executive of Arif Habib Corporation Limited, the 
holding company of Arif Habib Group. He is also the 
Chairman of Fatima Fertilizer Company Limited, Aisha 
Steel Mills Limited, Javedan Corporation Limited (the 
owner of Naya Nazimabad) and Sachal Energy 
Development (Pvt.) Limited and Arif Habib Dolmen REIT 
Management Limited.

Mr. Arif Habib remained the elected President/Chairman 
of Karachi Stock Exchange for six times in the past and 
was a Founding Member and Chairman of the Central 
Depository Company of Pakistan Limited. He has served 
as a Member of the Privatisation Commission, Board of 
Investment, Tariff Reforms Commission and Securities & 
Exchange Ordinance Review Committee. He has been a 
member of the Prime Minister’s Economic Advisory 
Council (EAC) and the Think-Tank constituted by the 
Prime Minister on COVID-19 related economic issues. 
He has also remained a member of the Prime Minister's 
Task Force on attracting Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) 
and a member of Advisory Committee of Planning 
Commission.

Mr. Habib participates significantly in welfare activities. 
He remains one of the directors of Pakistan Centre for 
Philanthropy (PCP), Habib University Foundation, 
Karachi Education Initiative (KSBL), Arif Habib 
Foundation and Naya Nazimabad Foundation as well as 
trustee of Memon Health & Education Foundation (MMI).

Corporate Responsibilities
As Chairman
Fatima Fertilizer Company Limited
Fatimafert Limited
Sachal Energy Development (Private) Limited
Javedan Corporation Limited
Aisha Steel Mills Limited
Arif Habib Development and Engineering Consultants 
(Private) Limited 
Sapphire Bay Development Company Limited
Arif Habib Foundation
Naya Nazimabad Foundation
Black Gold Power Limited
Essa Textile and Commodities (Private) Limited

As Director
Arif Habib Corporation Limited
Arif Habib Equity (Private) Limited
Arif Habib Consultancy (Private) Limited
Fatima Cement Limited
International Builders and Developers (Private) Limited
NCEL Building Management Limited
Pakarab Energy Limited
The Pakistan Business Council
Pakistan Engineering Company Limited
Pakistan Opportunities Limited

As Honorary Trustee/Director
Habib University Foundation
Karachi Education Initiative
Memon Health and Education Foundation
Pakistan Centre for Philanthropy

Mr. Nadeem Riaz 
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Nadeem Riaz has experience of over 33 years in the 
real estate market developing and managing renowned 
and award winning residential, commercial and retail 
projects. He is a pioneer in developing international 
standard shopping malls in Pakistan, transforming the 
dynamics of the retail industry. 

Mr. Riaz is a member of both International Council of 
Shopping Centers and Middle East Council of Shopping 
Centers, since 2002. 

Corporate Responsibilities
As Chief Executive
Dolmen (Private) Limited
Dolmen Project Management (Private) Limited
Grove (Private) Limited
International Complex Projects Limited
The Dolmen Foundation

As Director
DHA Dolmen Lahore (Private) Limited
Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) Limited
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited
Sindbad Wonderland (Private) Limited
Dolmen City Islamabad (Private) Limited
Dolmen Mall DHA Islamabad (Private) Limited

Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed 
Independent Director

Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed has more than 21 years of rich and 
diverse experience in corporate and Investment Banking.  
Her area of expertise includes investment banking, 
corporate finance and relationship management with 
profound understanding of structured financing, 
infrastructure advisory, capital markets and islamic 
finance. She has closed numerous high profile Infra and 
capital market deals in her career. She was last serving as 
Head of Investment Banking Group at a large commercial 
bank. Prior to that she had worked in a senior position at 
CIBG NBP and Bank Alfalah where she started her career 
as Management Trainee Officer. She is currently working 
in the portfolio management function of one of the large 
Multilateral Banks.

She holds an MBA degree from IBA and is a CFA, FRM 
charter holder. She holds Real Estate Developer Finance 
Certification from Moody`s and various Islamic Banking 
certifications from NIBAF and IBA CEIF. She has 
completed the Directors Training Program and is a 
certified Independent Director. 

Corporate Responsibilities 
As Director
Aisha Steel Mills Limited
United Brands Limited

Mr. Naeem Ilyas 
Independent Director

Mr. Naeem Ilyas has over 31 years of strategic cum 
operational management level combined experience. 
He has served in senior positions across corporates 
including FMCG, Pharmaceuticals, Process Industry, 
Building MEP Design Consultancy, Digital healthcare, 
Proptech, e-Commerce, Information Technology.

Engr. Naeem  Ilyas is a Pakistan Engineering Council 
registered Professional Engineer (PE) and associated as 
MEP Design Engineering & building services, having 
MBA, LLB, MA (Eco), PGD (NILAT) degrees/diplomas and 
has specialization in operations management from 
LUMS / McGill. He has founded REIT Academy and 
Institute of Real Assets Development & Management 
(IRADM). He is CEO at Magna Engineering (Pvt) Ltd and 
Director at Easy Health Tech Int’l (Pvt) Ltd., Infinitum 
Technologies (Pvt) Ltd. and some other companies.

He has been instrumental in developing e-commerce 
land scape in Pakistan, attended exposure study trips at 
MIT, Harvard Business School and Stanford University in 
USA and successfully exited from well-known 
ecommerce business after arranging road shows in 
Boston, Silicon Valley, Washington and UAE.

He is also serving as a board member of HANDS (not for 
profit), has also served as Justice of Peace and member 
CPLC for several years, Founder Chairman PQATI 
(BQATI), Vice Chairman LATI, Chairman EFP-NICC 
Forum, Managing Trustee of MPF Educational Trust, 
Secretary General of Memon Professional Forum (MPF). 
He during his academics received President Talent 
Farming Scholarship and IAESTE Student Exchange 
Trainings in Central Asian States. He has professional 
hands on experience and trainings in Canada, Japan, 
Germany, China and Middle East. He is member of 
Pakistan Institute of Corporate governance (PICG), ICSP 
and Certified Director from IBA, Karachi. He has also 
served as visiting faculty member at ICMAP, NED 
University, IBA –Karachi, Hamdard University and 
others.  

Corporate Responsibilities
As Chief Executive
Magna Engineering (Private) Limited
Parents Pakistan (SMC-Private) Limited

As Director
Easy Health Tech Int'l (Private) Limited
Fahim, Nanji & Desouza (Private) Limited
Institute of Holistic Rehabilitation & Inclusion (IHRI) 
(Private) Limited
Infinitum Technologies (Private) Limited
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Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib
Non-Executive Director

Starting his career at Arif Habib Corporation Limited, Mr 
Samad Habib developed his experience in sales, 
marketing and corporate activities working his way up 
through various executive positions. 

In 2004, Mr Samad Habib joined Arif Habib Limited 
leading the company as its Chairman and Chief 
Executive. He played a key role in shaping the strategic 
direction of the company where he specialized in capital 
market. operations and corporate finance. Several 
noteworthy Initial Public Offerings (IPOs) and successful 
private placements took place under his stewardship, 
showcasing his exceptional financial acumen and deep 
market insight. 

Mr Samad Habib transitioned to Javedan Corporation 
Limited, in 2011, as the driving force behind the 
transformation of a dilapidated cement plant to a vibrant 
living community, Naya Nazimabad.  Mr Samad Habib has 
been pivotal to advancing positive societal change, 
providing the city's middle class an elevated standard of 
living. His dedication, passion for social betterment and 
optimism are set to further transform the area with the 
largest commercial precinct development in the city 
presently under planning.

Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter
Independent Director

Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter is a qualified Chartered 
Accountant from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Pakistan (ICAP). He brings with him over 20 years of 
diversified experience in public and private organizations. 
He served in Securities & Exchange Commission of 
Pakistan (SECP) for more than 13 years. Prior to joining 
SECP in May 2008, he worked with Pakistan Cables 
Limited, A. F. Ferguson & Co. He started his career from 
Taseer Hadi Khalid & Co. a member of KPMG 
International.
 
Corporate Responsibilities
As Chief Executive
Proton Technologies (Private) Limited
Gratus Consultants (Private) Limited 
Gratus Solutions (Private) Limited 

Partnerships
Faizan Associates 
AabPara Residency 
KNJ Builders and Developers

In 2019, Mr. Samad Habib took on the role of CEO at 
Safemix Concrete. Guided by his strategic acumen, 
Safemix Concrete has undergone a remarkable 
transformation from a lossmaking entity to a profitable 
enterprise.

Corporate Responsibilities
As Chief Executive
Javedan Corporation Limited
Safemix Concrete Limited
Nooriabad Spinning Mills (Pvt.) Limited

As Chairman 
NN Maintenance Company (Private) Limited

As Director
Aisha Steel Mills Limited
Arif Habib Corporation Limited
Arif Habib Equity (Pvt.) Limited
Arif Habib Foundation
Arif Habib Development and Engineering Consultants 
(Private) Limited 
Black Gold Power Limited
Memon Health and Education Foundation (Trustee)
Pakistan Opportunities Limited
Power Cement Limited
Rotocast Engineering Company (Pvt.) Limited
Sapphire Bay Development Company Limited
Sukh Chayn Gardens (Pvt.) Ltd.
Sachal Energy Development (Private) Limited
Essa Textile and Commodities (Private) Limited
Park View Corporation (Private) Limited

Mr. Muhammad Ejaz
Chief Executive

Mr. Muhammad Ejaz is the founding Chief Executive of 
Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited, Pakistan’s 
pioneering REIT Management Company. He has been 
associated with Arif Habib Group since August 2008 and 
sits on the board of several group companies. He has 
spear headed several group projects when these were at 
a critical stage during their execution.

Prior to joining Arif Habib Group, Ejaz has served at senior 
positions with both local and international banks. He was 
the Treasurer of Emirates NBD bank in Pakistan and 
served Faysal Bank Pakistan as Regional Head of 
Corporate Banking Group. He also served Saudi-Pak 
bank (now Silk bank) as Head of Corporate and 
Investment Banking. He also had short stints at Engro 
Chemical and American Express bank.

Ejaz did his graduation in Computer Science from FAST, 
ICS and did MBA in Banking and Finance from IBA, 
Karachi, where he has also served as a visiting faculty 
member. He has also conducted programs at NIBAF-SBP 
and IBP. He is a Certified Director and also a Certified 
Financial Risk Manager.

He actively participates in the group's CSR initiatives 
especially those, which render services in the fields of 
health and education with emphasis on female literacy.

Corporate Responsibilities
As Director
Arif Habib Corporation Limited
Arif Habib Development and Engineering Consultants 
(Private) Limited  
Javedan Corporation Limited 
Sapphire Bay Development Company Limited
Sachal Energy Development (Private) Limited

Mr. Faisal Nadeem 
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Faisal is a director at the Dolmen Group, one of 
Pakistan’s leading real estate organizations. He has 
been involved in the development, marketing and 
management of prime commercial and retail real estate 
projects including Dolmen Mall Clifton. 

Mr. Faisal started career as Manager Special Projects 
associated with the development of Dolmen Mall Tariq 
Road, Dolmen Mall Hyderi, Dolmen Food Courts, The 
Harbour Front Office Tower and Dolmen Mall Clifton. 

He later served in the capacity of Director Leasing, for the 
Dolmen property portfolio. He is currently serving as the 
Chief Executive Officer at Dolmen Real Estate 
Management (Pvt.) Limited, which manages over 2 million 
square feet of prime retail and commercial space.

Corporate Responsibilities
As Chief Executive 
Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) Limited 
Dolmen City Islamabad (Private) Limited 

As Director
International Complex Projects Limited
Sindbad Wonderland (Private) Limited
Grove (Private) Limited
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited
DHA Dolmen Lahore (Private) Limited
Dolmen (Private) Limited
Dolmen Project Management (Private) Limited
Salfo Pakistan (Private) Limited
The Dolmen Foundation
Dolmen Mall DHA Islamabad (Private) Limited

Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh 
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh is a Fellow member of Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Pakistan. His association with 
Dolmen Group spans over 13 years and he is currently 
working as Group Director Finance at the Dolmen Group. 
He started his career with KPMG Taseer Hadi and Co. later 
joined Avery Dennison Pakistan before associating with 
Dolmen Group. 
 
Corporate Responsibilities
As Director
Grove (Private) Limited
DHA Dolmen Lahore (Private) Limited
The Dolmen Foundation
Dolmen City Islamabad (Private) Limited
Dolmen Mall DHA Islamabad (Private) Limited
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

Dear Unitholders of Dolmen City REIT

The Board of Directors of Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited, the REIT Management Company (RMC), 
have issued a separate report on the performance and the future outlook of Dolmen City REIT (DCR).

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Management of the REIT and in turn the Unit Holders’ best interest.

I, in my capacity of Chairman of the Board, am issuing this report on my assessment of the performance of the Board.

It gives me great satisfaction to report that the Board has been meeting regularly and maintained continuous 
oversight and while being cognizant of its role and responsibilities, which it has carried out diligently in order to up 
hold the best interest of the Unit Holders of DCR.

The Board’s composition has a balance of executive, non-executive and independent directors and the Board, as a 
whole, has the core competencies, diversity, requisite skills, knowledge and experience necessary in the context of 
the DCR’s operations.

The Board has formed Audit, as well as Human Resource and Remuneration Committees. It has approved the 
Committees’ Terms of Reference (TORs) and ensured that the respective members of the Committees are equipped 
with the necessary resources required by them to carry out assigned roles and responsibilities.

Throughout the year, the Management continued to bring all significant issues before the Board and its Committees 
to ensure robustness of the decision making process; in particular,  all the related party transactions entered into, 
were brought to the Board’s attention and were reviewed in detail by the Audit Committee and thereafter, the Board.
 
The Board has developed and has been ensuring the implementation of a Code of Conduct covering professional 
standards, ethical practices and corporate values, that have been adhered to in the Management Company’s 
conduct, as well as in managing DCR by the Management with respect to the day-to-day operational activities.

The Board carried out an evaluation of the Board’s own performance and that of its Committees, as well as that of 
individual Directors.  The Board is extremely satisfied with the result of its self-assessment.

All meetings of the Board, as well as those of its Committees were held with the requisite quorum and all the 
decisions were taken through Board resolutions. The minutes of the Board meetings, as well as that of its 
Committees were accurately recorded and circulated amongst the Members with regularity and timeliness.  The 
Board and the Audit Committee have reviewed and are satisfied that there are adequate systems of internal control 
in place and that these were regularly assessed for implementation and adequacy.

All the key executives of the Management Company who serve the best interest of the Unit Holders of DCR, were 
evaluated and appropriate compensation was given so as to ensure that they perform their respective functions 
diligently. The key executives included the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer, the Company Secretary and 
the Head of Internal Audit.

The Board has prepared and approved the Directors Report and has ensured that the Directors Report is published 
with the Quarterly and Annual Financial Statement of the Scheme and the contents of the Directors Report are in 
accordance with the requirement of applicable laws and regulation

The Board exercised its powers in light of the power assigned to the Board in accordance with the relevant laws and 
regulation applicable on DCR and it has ensured  compliance with all the applicable laws and regulation while 
exercising their powers and making decisions.

The evaluation of the Boards performance is assessed based on those key areas where the Board require clarity in 
order to provide high level oversight, including strategic process, key business drivers and performing milestones, 
the economic environment in which the Scheme operates, the risks faced by Scheme Business, Board Dynamics, 
Capability and information flows. Based on the aforementioned, it can be reasonably be stated the Board of 
Directors of the RMC has played a key role in ensuring that Scheme’s objectives are achieved through a joint effort 
with the management team and guidance and oversight by the Board and its members.

Arif Habib 
Chairman 

25 October, 2024
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Dear Unitholders

The Board of Directors of Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited are pleased to present the Annual Report of 
Dolmen City REIT (“DCR” or “the Scheme”) and the audited financial statements for the financial year ended June 30, 
2024, together with auditors’ report and other statutory reports.

The REIT Asset

The REIT assets comprise Dolmen Mall and Harbour Front which are a part of Dolmen City Clifton; a mixed use, 
waterfront development at the cusp of Karachi's Defence and Clifton areas, comprising of four office towers—Sky 
Tower A and B (office space with future planning for hotel and serviced apartments), Harbour Front, Executive Tower 
and the three-level Dolmen Mall. The complex covers 3.4 million sq ft.

Dolmen Mall Clifton, offering just under 543,000 sq.ft. leasable area has transformed retail in Pakistan, offering a 
world-class shopping experience with over 130 outlets, a hypermarket, and a food court for 1,200 people. It features 
a diverse range of local and international brands including Mango, Carrefour, Khaadi, Gul Ahmed and Nike. As 
Pakistan’s first mall of international standards, it attracts shoppers nationwide with its premium retail and dining 
options.

The 19-floor Harbour Front offering just over 257,000 sq.ft. leasable area; stands out as one of the country's premier 
office spaces, blending modern design with functionality. Its strategic location offers stunning views of the 
waterfront, creating an inspiring work environment. The sleek architecture and contemporary interiors make it an 
attractive choice for businesses looking to make a statement making it home to some of the top multinational 
corporations (MNCs) and local companies operating in Pakistan.

Operational Performance

Since its inception in 2015, DCR’s real estate has maintained strong occupancy levels, reaching 97.48% as of June 
2024 (down slightly from 97.84% in June 2023). New tenants such as Prime Textile, Maria B., Bella Vita, and The 
Closet (PUMA) enhance the mall’s consumer experience with a more diverse offering.

Occupancy levels at Dolmen Mall Clifton and Harbour Front at the year-end are as follows: 

  

As on June 30, 2024, the Weighted Average Lease Expiry ‘WALE’ based on the leasable area of Dolmen Mall is 
around 2.57 years and Harbour Front is around 4.11 years. This makes DCR’s cumulative average lease expiry 3.34 
years. 

This implies consistent occupancy and robust performance for the foreseeable future. 
Financial Performance 

DCR’s Net Asset Value as on June 30, 2024 reflected an increase of almost PKR 3 billion at PKR 73.19 billion over the 
last year (June 30, 2023: PKR 69.50 billion) making it the biggest closed-end, Shariah compliant, listed instrument in 
Pakistan. 

During the year under review, DCR recorded a rental income increase of over 535 million at PKR 4,854.66 million 
over PKR 4,318.76 million (June 30, 2023), marketing income increase of PKR 45.5 million at PKR 303.93 million (June 
30, 2023: PKR 258.39 million) and increase on profit on Shariah compliant bank deposits of PKR 84 million at PKR 
328.05 million (June 30, 2023: PKR 243.69 million). Administrative, operating and other expenses amounted to PKR 
982.52 million (June 30, 2023: PKR 755.34 million). 

The increase in income across all heads consistently reflects positive financial performance for the year in review. 

An amount of 3.63 billion was also recorded as change in fair value of investment property as valued by MYK 
Associates (Private) Limited, an independent valuer (Refer to note 4 to the financial statements). This translates to 
Profit after tax of PKR 8.14 billion (June 30, 2023: PKR 9.29 billion) and earning per unit (EPU) of PKR 3.66. The EPU 
comprises of distributable income of PKR 2.03 and PKR 1.63 being un-distributable unrealised fair value gains. The 
valuation opinion is a critical component for both the half-year and annual financial results. The Board is satisfied that 
the fair valuation of the REIT properties was conducted in accordance with the rules. 

DCR Tenancy Profile

DCR's real estate maintains a high occupancy rate with credible tenants, mainly international brands and 
multinational corporations known for their financial stability. Dolmen Mall Clifton, anchored by Carrefour, features a 
strong blend of local and international brands like Adidas, Nike, Khaadi, Levi’s, and Charles & Keith, driving 
consistent customer traffic. 

The Harbour Front houses major corporations such as Engro, Citibank, and Procter & Gamble across 17 lettable 
floors. 

The Property Manager has played a key role in maintaining tenant relationships across DCR assets enhancing the 
brand image, and ensuring high-quality maintenance, contributing to strong occupancy and customer loyalty. 
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Distribution of Dividend

During the year, the Board declared and distributed a total dividend of PKR 2.00 per unit, providing an annualized 
yield of 20% based on par value and 18.18% for IPO investors. The total payout for the year ended June 30, 2024, 
amounted to 99.85% of distributable income, equaling PKR 4,447.40 million.

Shariah Compliance

Complying with Shariah guidelines, the fund’s real estate remained secure under Takaful policies by “A” rated 
Pakistani operators supported by renowned international Re-Takaful syndicate. Shariah advisor, in his Annual 
Shariah Review Report, has confirmed compliance with Shariah principals in all aspects. 

Unit Performance

During the twelve months under review, DCR reached a high of PKR 16.50 and a low of PKR 13.46 per unit. Total 
return saw a significant 2.6x increase from 13.31% in FY 2023 to 34.18% in FY 2024. As of June 30, 2024, DCR’s Net 
Asset Value (NAV) was PKR 32.91 per unit, with the stock trading at a 50.01% discount to its NAV. 

The Average Daily Traded Volume (ADTV) significantly increased from 129,772 units in FY23 to 460,290 units in 
FY24. This substantial rise indicates a marked improvement in liquidity, reflecting heightened investor interest and 
trading activity in the market. 

Footfall Drivers

Customer-centric marketing and branding initiatives at the mall during FY24 effectively sustained strong footfall. 
Major occasions like Independence Day, New Year celebrations, and the Dolmen Shopping Festival were all 
celebrated with great enthusiasm at Dolmen City Mall.

Average monthly footfall was 722,666 visitors compared with 708,278 visitors in FY23. DCR welcomed around 8.67 
million visitors during FY24 compared to 8.50 million visitors in FY23. 

Key Metrics FY 2024 FY 2023 
Opening Price PKR 13.75 PKR 13.67 
Closing Price PKR 16.45 PKR 13.68 
Average Price PKR 14.11 PKR 13.74 
Dividend  PKR 2.00 PKR 1.81 
Price Return 19.64% 0.07% 
Total Return 34.18% 13.31% 
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Corporate Governance  

DCR is listed on the Pakistan Stock Exchange, and its Board and management are committed to adhering to the 
Code of Corporate Governance. They ensure proper maintenance of accounts and consistent application of 
accounting policies in financial statements, following International Financial Reporting Standards applicable in 
Pakistan. The internal control system is well-designed and effectively monitored, allowing the financial statements to 
fairly represent DCR's affairs, operations, cash flows, and NAV movements. The Board reaffirms DCR's ability to 
continue as a going concern, with no significant tax-related payments outstanding, and emphasizes its commitment 
to corporate governance and transparency.

Sustainability Risk Management, CSR, and DE&I Initiatives

The board is committed to addressing sustainability-related risks through comprehensive governance and oversight 
mechanisms. We regularly assess these risks and implement mitigation strategies as part of our Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) and Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) policies. Key elements of these policies 
include reducing our carbon footprint, conserving resources, advancing renewable energy, and managing waste 
sustainably. Additionally, we prioritize diversity, equity, and inclusion (DE&I) by fostering a diverse workforce, 
supporting employee well-being, and promoting community involvement through our DE&I initiatives.

Key Governance Policies: Communication, Disclosure, and Whistleblowing

The company has in place its communication and disclosure policies to ensure transparency and accountability. It is 
to ensure that all stakeholders are informed in a timely and accurate manner. We maintain clear channels for the 
dissemination of information, in compliance with regulatory requirements, to uphold investor and public trust. 
Additionally, our whistleblowing policy provides a secure and confidential framework for employees and 
stakeholders to report any unethical practices or violations, reinforcing our commitment to maintaining the highest 
standards of corporate integrity and governance.

Directors’ Attendance at Board and its Committee Meeting 

During the year ended June 30, 2024, twelve (12) Board Meetings, fifteen (15) Audit Committee Meetings and one 
(01) Human Resource & Remuneration Committee Meeting were held. The names of Directors and their attendance 
in Board and Committee meetings held during the year are presented below:

While the KSE-100 index fluctuated between 43,552.83 and 78,824.33, DCR’s stock remained stable, exhibiting a 
low beta of 0.03 and a low positive correlation with the market of 0.0004.

Business Environment

The demand for quality office space remains robust in Pakistan. Several sectors, such as technology and agriculture, 
show potential for growth and investment. The technology sector is experiencing rapid advancements leading to a 
higher demand for modern office spaces that accommodate tech startups and established firms seeking 
collaborative environments.

The retail industry is also witnessing substantial expansion, fueled by a rising middle class and increasing 
urbanization. This evolution underscores the importance of malls that offer a diverse range of retail options, as well 
as engaging experiences that cater to changing consumer preferences.

With local and international brands competing for market share, innovative retail solutions and enhanced customer 
experiences are becoming essential. Malls and office buildings that prioritize flexibility and customer-centric designs 
are well-positioned to thrive in this dynamic environment. 

Business Risk Summary

DCR’s business relies on maintaining occupancy levels and faces key risks, including potential competition from new 
office and retail developments that may lower pricing but compromise facilities management. Additionally, while high 
interest rates could temporarily impact DCR's yield competitiveness, REIT units are expected to provide stable, 
long-term returns as an inflation hedge. The risk of tenant defaults is considered low, as most tenants are 
multinational corporations or established franchises. DCR’s Property Manager implements stringent tenant 
screening and monitoring practices to maintain strong relationships with all tenants.

Outlook

The demand for both retail and office spaces in Pakistan are poised for growth. The key will be adaptability—retailers 
and businesses that can innovate and respond to changing consumer preferences and work trends will likely thrive 
in this evolving landscape. Investors and developers should focus on creating flexible, sustainable, and 
customer-centric environments to meet the demands of the modern market.

Sr. 
No. Name of Director Board 

Mee ng 
Audit 

Commi ee 

Human 
Resource & 

Remunera on 
Commi ee 

1 Mr. Arif Habib  11 - - 
2 Mr. Nadeem Riaz 4 - - 
3 Mr. Naeem Ilyas 12 15 - 
4 Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed 9 - 1 
5 Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter 12 15 - 
6 Mr. Samad A. Habib 11 11 1 
7 Mr. Faisal Nadeem 8 - - 
8 Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh 12 15 1 
9 Mr. Muhammad Ejaz 9 - 1 
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Pattern of Unitholding

The units of DCR are listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange. There were 5,760 unitholders of DCR as of 
30 June 2024. The detailed pattern of unitholding and categories of unitholding of DCR including units held by 
Directors and Executives, if any, are provided as Annexure-I.

The pattern of Unit holding in DCR as of June 30, 2024, is detailed in Annexure ‘I’ to this report.

Financial and Business Highlights

The key operating and financial data have been given in summarized form under the caption “Financial & Business 
Highlights” along with and graphic representation as annexure to this report.

Audit Committee

As required under the Code of Corporate Governance, the Audit Committee continued to perform as per its Terms 
of Reference duly approved by the Board. 

Auditors

The present external auditors M/s. KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co. Chartered Accountants, shall retire, and being eligible, 
have offered themselves for reappointment for the year ending on 30th June 2025. The external auditors hold 
satisfactory rating by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) as required under their Quality Control 
Review Program. As suggested by the Audit Committee of RMC, the Board of RMC recommends reappointment of 
M/s. KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co. Chartered Accountants, as auditors of DCR for the financial year ending on 30th June 
2025 at a fee to be mutually agreed.

Election of Directors

In accordance with the provisions of Section 161 of Companies Act 2017 (Section 180 of the repealed Companies 
Ordinance, 1984) the three years term of eight elected directors of RMC had been completed in October 2021 and 
all Directors were retired. Fresh elections of Directors were held on October 26, 2021, and the number of Directors 
as fixed by the Board (eight in numbers) were elected unopposed. Further, Chairman, Chief Executive and 
sub-committees of the board were also appointed on the said date.

Post Balance Sheet Events

There have been no material changes since 30th June 2024 to the date of this report except the declaration and 
distribution of a final Cash Dividend at Rs. 0.50 / unit i.e. 5.00 %. This was in addition to interim dividend declared 
and distributed at Rs. 1.50 / unit i.e. 15.00 %. The effect of such a declaration shall be reflected in next year’s financial 
statements.

Directors’ Remuneration

The Non- Executive Directors (including independent directors) of RMC, excluding those directors who are 
concurrently serving as Executive Directors in any of the Arif Habib Group of Companies are provided a 
remuneration for attending Board and its Committee Meetings as may be approved by the Board from time to time.

The Chief Executive Officer is the only executive director on the Board. Further as and when the Board decides to 
assign any additional roles and responsibilities to any non-executive directors, the Board shall decide the 
remuneration to be provided to such director which is commensurate with the roles and responsibilities so assigned.

The Scheme is exclusively obligated to pay a management fee to RMC, and therefore, there is no impact on the 
fund's financial statements related to Directors' remuneration.

Committees of the Board:

Audit Committee 

Mr. Naeem Ilyas Chairman
Mr. Noman Akhter Member
Mr. Samad A. Habib Member
Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh  Member
 
Human Resource & Remuneration Committee

Ms Tayyaba Rasheed Chairperson
Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib  Member
Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh Member
Mr Muhammad Ejaz Member

Composition of the Board 

The current composition of the board is as follows:

Total Number of Directors:
(a) Male: 8
(b) Female: 1

Composition:

Name  Status 
Mr. Arif Habib Chairman 

Mr. Nadeem Riaz  Non-Execu ve Director 

Mr. Naeem Ilyas  Independent Director 

Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed  Independent Director 

Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter Independent Director 

Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib  Non-Execu ve Director 

Mr. Faisal Nadeem Non-Execu ve Director 

Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh Independent Director 

Mr. Muhammad Ejaz Chief Execu ve O cer 
 

Categories of Unit holders  Unit Held  % 
Directors and their spouse(s) and minor children         16,582,482   0.75 
Associated Companies, undertakings, and related par es   1,715,556,197   77.14 
NIT and ICP                          -                       -    
Banks, DFIs , NBFCs 237,487,553 10.68 
Insurance Companies 4,374,018 0.20 
Modarabas and Mutual Funds 2,618,370 0.12 
General Public    
a. Local 186,337,641 8.38 
b. Foreign 8,024,389 0.36 
Others 52,719,350 2.37 

   
Total 2,223,700,000 100% 
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Related Party Transactions

To comply with the requirements of REIT Regulations and Code of Corporate Governance, DCR presented all related 
party transactions before the Audit Committee and Board of RMC for their review and approval. These transactions 
have been approved by the Audit Committee and Board of Directors in their respective meetings. The details of 
related party transactions have been provided in note 24 of the annexed audited financial statements. 

Acknowledgement

We are thankful to DCR’s valued investors, the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, the management 
of Pakistan Stock Exchange, the Trustees of DCR, the Property Manager and business partners for their continued 
cooperation and support. We also appreciate the effort put in by the management team.

For and on behalf of the Board

Muhammad Ejaz       Arif Habib 
Chief Executive        Chairman

Karachi
25 October, 2024
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ANNEXURE I
PATTERN OF UNIT HOLDING
Catagories of Units as at June 30, 2024

  

 

   

 
  

  
  

  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  

    

Categories of Unit holders No. of
Unit holders 

No. of
Unit Held  Holding %

Directors, Chief Executive Officer and their spouse(s) 
and minor children
   
Nadeem Riaz 1  6,860,000   0.31 
Uzma Nadeem 1  4,342,833   0.20 
Faisal Nadeel 2  4,207,649   0.19 
Sajid Ullah Sheikh 1  1,172,000   0.05 
   
Associated Companies, undertakings and related parties 6  1,706,081,152   76.72 
   
NIT and ICP -  -     -   
   
Banks Development Financial Institutions, 
Non-Banking Financial Institutions 9  237,487,553   10.68 
   
Insurance Companies 6 4,374,018   0.20 
   
Modarabas and Mutual Funds 3  2,618,370  0.12 
   
General Public   

a. Local 5291  195,812,686  8.81
b. Foreign 354  8,024,389   0.36 

Foreign Companies -  -     -   

Others 86  52,719,350   2.37 

Total  5760  2,223,700,000   100.00 

Unit holders holding 10% or more No. of
Unit Held  Holding

     Dolmen (Private) Limited   833,887,500   37.50 
     Al-Feroz (Private) Limited   833,887,500   37.50 

ANNEXURE 1
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Address: Flat 503, 8th Floor Ibrahim Residency, C.P & Berar Society, Karachi. 

+92 322 2671867  www.alhamdshariahadvisory.com info@alhamdshariahadvisory.com 

  
Annual Shariah Review Report 

 
Dolmen City REIT, a Shariah Compliant Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT), was 
launched in June 2015. This REIT is structured on the principles of Shirkah and Ijarah, 
which represent the foundations of its design. Under this structure, all unit holders 
collectively share ownership of the project, encompassing both The Harbor Front and 
Dolmen Mall Clifton. The distribution of dividends to unit holders is derived from the 
rental income generated. Both Shirkah and Ijarah adhere to the principles of Shariah, 
ensuring compliance with Islamic finance principles. 

In our role as the Shariah Advisor, we have conducted a comprehensive review of the 
transactions executed throughout the year. It is my pleasure to confirm that all 
investment activities and matters pertaining to rentals adhere to Shariah principles. 

Based on our assessment, we are pleased to state that the business operations of 
Dolmen City REIT have been consistently conducted in alignment with the rules and 
regulations of Shariah. Consequently, we can affirm that the income generated for the 
unit holders within this REIT is both HALAL and SHARIAH COMPLIANT. 

We extend our gratitude to the Directors, Management of Arif Habib Dolmen REIT 
Management Company, the trustee, property manager, and all other stakeholders for 
their unwavering support and cooperation in ensuring the adherence to Shariah 
principles and our special thanks to all unit holders who invested in this REIT and showed full 
trust in this project. 

May Allah bestow abundant rewards upon the management of the REIT for their 
dedicated services, and may He bless their endeavors with continued prosperity and 
sincerity. Ameen. 

 
 
______________________   ______________________ 
Mufti Muhammad Ibrahim Essa   Mufti Ubaid ur Rahman Zubairi 

Alhamd Shariah Advisory Services (Pvt.) Limited Alhamd Shariah Advisory Services (Pvt.) Limited 
 
28th September 2024 
 

Address: 
 

 
  

 
2024 

2015

 

 

 

 

      
      

    

 28
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Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 
2019 for the year ended 30 June 2024. 
 
 
Name of Company: Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited (the REIT Management Company or 
RMC) 
For and on behalf of: Dolmen City REIT (the Scheme) 
Year ended:  June 30, 2024  
 
 
The RMC has complied with the requirement of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) for and on behalf of the Scheme in the following manner: 
 
1. The total number of directors are 9 (nine) comprising of eight elected directors and one deemed 

director composition is as follows: 
 

a) Male: 8 
 
b) Female: 1 

 
2. The composition of the board is as follows: 

 
Category Names 

 
Non-Executive Director Mr. Arif Habib - Chairman 

Mr. Nadeem Riaz 
Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib 
Mr. Faisal Nadeem 
Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh 
 

Independent Director 
 
Female Director 
(Independent Director) 
 
Chief Executive 
(Deemed Director) 

Mr. Naeem Ilyas 
Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter 
 
Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed  
 
 
Mr. Muhammad Ejaz 
 
 

3. The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven listed 
companies, including RMC. 

  
4. The RMC has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken to 

disseminate it throughout the RMC along with its supporting policies and procedures. 
 
5. The Board has developed a vision / mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies 

of the RMC. The Board has ensured that a complete record of particulars of significant policies along 
with the dates of approval or updating are maintained by the RMC. 

 
6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been taken 

by the Board / Management Company as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 
2017, REIT Regulations, 2022 and the Regulations. 

 
7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director elected 

by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of the Companies Act 2017 

Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies (Code of Corporate 
Governance) Regulations, 2019 for the year ended 30 June 2024. 
 
 
Name of Company: Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited (the REIT Management Company or RMC) 
For and on behalf of: Dolmen City REIT (the Scheme) 
Year ended:  June 30, 2024  
 
 
The RMC has complied with the requirement of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the 
Regulations) for and on behalf of the Scheme in the following manner: 
 
1. The total number of directors are 9 (nine) comprising of eight elected directors and one deemed director composition 

is as follows: 
 

a) Male: 8 
 
b) Female: 1 

 
2. The composition of the board is as follows: 

 
Category Names 

 

Non-Executive Director Mr. Arif Habib - Chairman 

Mr. Nadeem Riaz 

Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib 

Mr. Faisal Nadeem 

Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh 
 

Independent Director 

 
Female Director 
(Independent 
Director) 
 
Chief Executive 
(Deemed Director) 

Mr. Naeem Ilyas 
Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter 
 
Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed  

 
 
Mr. Muhammad Ejaz 
 
 

3. The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven listed companies, including 
RMC; 

  
4. The RMC has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken to disseminate it 

throughout the RMC along with its supporting policies and procedures; 
 
5. The Board has developed a vision / mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies of the RMC. 

The Board has ensured that a complete record of particulars of significant policies along with the dates of approval or 
updating is maintained by the RMC; 

 
6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been taken by Board / 

Management Company as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2017, REIT Regulations, 2022 
and the Regulations; 

 
7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director elected by the Board 

for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2017 and the Regulations with 
respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the Board; 

 
8. The Board of directors have a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in accordance with 

the Companies Act, 2017 and the Regulations; 
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Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 
2019 for the year ended 30 June 2024. 
 
 
Name of Company: Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited (the REIT Management Company or 
RMC) 
For and on behalf of: Dolmen City REIT (the Scheme) 
Year ended:  June 30, 2024  
 
 
The RMC has complied with the requirement of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) for and on behalf of the Scheme in the following manner: 
 
1. The total number of directors are 9 (nine) comprising of eight elected directors and one deemed 

director composition is as follows: 
 

a) Male: 8 
 
b) Female: 1 

 
2. The composition of the board is as follows: 

 
Category Names 

 
Non-Executive Director Mr. Arif Habib - Chairman 

Mr. Nadeem Riaz 
Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib 
Mr. Faisal Nadeem 
Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh 
 

Independent Director 
 
Female Director 
(Independent Director) 
 
Chief Executive 
(Deemed Director) 

Mr. Naeem Ilyas 
Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter 
 
Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed  
 
 
Mr. Muhammad Ejaz 
 
 

3. The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven listed 
companies, including RMC. 

  
4. The RMC has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken to 

disseminate it throughout the RMC along with its supporting policies and procedures. 
 
5. The Board has developed a vision / mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies 

of the RMC. The Board has ensured that a complete record of particulars of significant policies along 
with the dates of approval or updating are maintained by the RMC. 

 
6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been taken 

by the Board / Management Company as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 
2017, REIT Regulations, 2022 and the Regulations. 

 
7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director elected 

by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of the Companies Act 2017 

Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies (Code of Corporate 
Governance) Regulations, 2019 for the year ended 30 June 2024. 
 
 
Name of Company: Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited (the REIT Management Company or RMC) 
For and on behalf of: Dolmen City REIT (the Scheme) 
Year ended:  June 30, 2024  
 
 
The RMC has complied with the requirement of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the 
Regulations) for and on behalf of the Scheme in the following manner: 
 
1. The total number of directors are 9 (nine) comprising of eight elected directors and one deemed director composition 

is as follows: 
 

a) Male: 8 
 
b) Female: 1 

 
2. The composition of the board is as follows: 

 
Category Names 

 

Non-Executive Director Mr. Arif Habib - Chairman 

Mr. Nadeem Riaz 

Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib 

Mr. Faisal Nadeem 

Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh 
 

Independent Director 

 
Female Director 
(Independent 
Director) 
 
Chief Executive 
(Deemed Director) 

Mr. Naeem Ilyas 
Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter 
 
Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed  

 
 
Mr. Muhammad Ejaz 
 
 

3. The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven listed companies, including 
RMC; 

  
4. The RMC has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken to disseminate it 

throughout the RMC along with its supporting policies and procedures; 
 
5. The Board has developed a vision / mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies of the RMC. 

The Board has ensured that a complete record of particulars of significant policies along with the dates of approval or 
updating is maintained by the RMC; 

 
6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been taken by Board / 

Management Company as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2017, REIT Regulations, 2022 
and the Regulations; 

 
7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director elected by the Board 

for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2017 and the Regulations with 
respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the Board; 

 
8. The Board of directors have a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in accordance with 

the Companies Act, 2017 and the Regulations; 
 

and the Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the 
Board. 

 
8. The Board of directors has a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in 

accordance with the Companies Act, 2017 and the Regulations. 
 

9. Seven directors have a certification under the Directors’ Training Program; one director will undergo 
training, while one director of the RMC is exempt from the requirement. 

 
10. The Board has approved the appointment of Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Head of 

Internal Audit, including their remuneration and terms and conditions of employment and complied with 
relevant requirements of the Regulations. 

 
11. Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer duly endorsed the financial statements before approval 

of the Board. 
 
12. The Board has formed committees comprising of members given below: 
 

a) Audit Committee 
 
Mr. Naeem Ilyas Chairman 
Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Member 
Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh Member 
Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter Member 

 
 

b) Human Resource & Remuneration Committee 
 
Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed Chairperson 
Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Member 
Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh Member 
Mr. Muhammad Ejaz Member 

 
 
13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised to the 

committee for compliance. 
 

14. The frequency of meetings (quarterly/half yearly/ yearly) of the committees were as per following: 
 

a) Audit Committee: 15 meetings 
b) Human Resource & Remuneration Committee: 1 meeting 

 
15. The Board has outsourced the internal audit function to M/s Junaidy Shoaib Asad & Co Chartered 

Accountants who are considered suitably qualified and experienced for the purpose and are conversant 
with the policies and procedures of the RMC. 
 

16. The statutory auditors of the Scheme have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating 
under the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and 
registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners are in compliance with 
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the partners of the firm involved in the audit 
are not a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and non-dependent children) of the Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal Audit, Company Secretary or director of the RMC; 
 

17. The statutory auditors or the people associated with them have not been appointed to provide other 
services except in accordance with the Act, the regulations or any other regulatory requirement and the 
auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard. 
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and the Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the 
Board. 

 
8. The Board of directors has a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in 

accordance with the Companies Act, 2017 and the Regulations. 
 

9. Seven directors have a certification under the Directors’ Training Program; one director will undergo 
training, while one director of the RMC is exempt from the requirement. 

 
10. The Board has approved the appointment of Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Head of 

Internal Audit, including their remuneration and terms and conditions of employment and complied with 
relevant requirements of the Regulations. 

 
11. Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer duly endorsed the financial statements before approval 

of the Board. 
 
12. The Board has formed committees comprising of members given below: 
 

a) Audit Committee 
 
Mr. Naeem Ilyas Chairman 
Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Member 
Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh Member 
Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter Member 

 
 

b) Human Resource & Remuneration Committee 
 
Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed Chairperson 
Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Member 
Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh Member 
Mr. Muhammad Ejaz Member 

 
 
13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised to the 

committee for compliance. 
 

14. The frequency of meetings (quarterly/half yearly/ yearly) of the committees were as per following: 
 

a) Audit Committee: 15 meetings 
b) Human Resource & Remuneration Committee: 1 meeting 

 
15. The Board has outsourced the internal audit function to M/s Junaidy Shoaib Asad & Co Chartered 

Accountants who are considered suitably qualified and experienced for the purpose and are conversant 
with the policies and procedures of the RMC. 
 

16. The statutory auditors of the Scheme have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating 
under the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and 
registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners are in compliance with 
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the partners of the firm involved in the audit 
are not a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and non-dependent children) of the Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal Audit, Company Secretary or director of the RMC; 
 

17. The statutory auditors or the people associated with them have not been appointed to provide other 
services except in accordance with the Act, the regulations or any other regulatory requirement and the 
auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard. 
 

18. We confirm that all requirements of the Regulations 3,6,7,8,27,32,33 and 36 of the Regulations have 
been complied with; and 
 

19. Explanation for non-compliance with requirements, other than regulations 3,6,7,8,27,32,33 and 36 are 
below (if applicable): 

 
For and behalf of the board. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Muhammad Ejaz        Arif Habib 
Chief Executive         Chairman 
 
Dated: October 25, 2024 
Karachi 
 
 

                                                                                     
    

S. No Requirement Explanation for not meeting non-mandatory 
requirements 

Regulation 
No. 

1. The same person shall not 
simultaneously hold the office of 
Chief Financial Officer and the 
Company Secretary of a listed 
Company. 

The current Chief Financial Officer and Company 
Secretary is suitably qualified and professionally 
capable of acting and fulfilling the duties and 
responsibilities of both the roles. In addition, it is 
also a cost-effective measure that is in the better 
interest of the shareholders of the RMC, therefore 
hiring a separate person for both positions is not 
feasible. 

24 

2. The Board may be required to 
approve an anti-harassment 
policy to safeguard the rights and 
wellbeing of employees. 
 

During the year, the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan (SECP) amended 
Regulation No. 10 on June 12, 2024. While the 
Company's Code of Conduct and Human Resource 
policy broadly addresses the relevant workplace 
matters, the management is currently reviewing 
the amendments. 

10(4) (xvi) 

3. In order to effectively discharge 
its sustainability related duties, 
the board may establish a 
dedicated sustainability 
committee having at least one 
female director or assign 
additional responsibilities to an 
existing board committee. 

During the year, the SECP introduced Regulation 
10A on June 12, 2024. The Board currently 
oversees the Company’s Environmental, Social, 
and Governance (ESG) initiatives, and 
management is reviewing the amendments 

10A(5) 

4. The Board may constitute a 
separate committee, designated 
as the nomination committee and  
risk management committee, of 
such number and class of 
directors, as it may deem 
appropriate in its circumstances. 

Currently, the Board manages these matters 
through its governance framework. The Board 
considers its members appropriately qualified to 
oversee these responsibilities, given the 
company’s scale and structure. This approach is 
regularly reviewed to ensure alignment with best 
practices and regulations. 

29(1) & 30(1) 
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FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 2024 2023

Revenue
Rental income 17 4,854,664         4,318,760      
Marketing income 18 303,933            258,387         

5,158,597         4,577,147      

Administrative and operating expenses 19 (817,812)           (580,271)        
Impairment reversal / (loss) on receivables 5.1 7,260                (17,688)          
Net operating income 4,348,045         3,979,188      

Other income 20 338,952            244,338         
4,686,997         4,223,526      

Management fee 12.2 (130,441)           (119,376)        
Sindh sales tax on management fee 12.2 (16,957)             (15,519)          
Trustee fee 14.4 (21,740)             (19,896)          
Sindh sales tax on trustee fee 14.4 (2,826)               (2,586)            

(171,964)           (157,377)        
Profit before change in fair value of 
investment property 4,515,033         4,066,149      

Unrealized gain on remeasurement of fair 
value of investment property 4 3,625,022         5,225,670      
Profit before tax 8,140,055         9,291,819      

Income tax expense 21 -                   -                 
Profit for the year 8,140,055         9,291,819      

------------------------- (Rupees) -------------------------

Earnings per unit - Basic and diluted 22 3.66                  4.18               

The annexed notes from 1 to 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

----------------- (Rupees in '000) -----------------
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2024

Note 2024 2023

ASSETS

Non-current asset

Investment property 4 71,671,881      68,046,859      

Current assets

Rent and marketing receivables 5 99,100             106,175           
Advances and deposits 6 193,666           24,132             
Advance tax 7 220,540           215,590           
Accrued profit on deposits 17,618             20,314             
Short-term investments 8 61,544             750,700           
Bank balances 9 1,790,620        1,131,446        
Total current assets 2,383,088        2,248,357        

Total assets 74,054,969      70,295,216      

UNIT HOLDERS' FUND AND LIABILITIES

REPRESENTED BY:

Unit holders' fund

Issued, subscribed and paid up units
(2,223,700,000 units of Rs. 10 each) 10 22,237,000      22,237,000      
Capital Reserves 11 49,716,227      46,091,205      
Revenue Reserve 1,235,775        1,168,142        
Total unit holders' fund 73,189,002      69,496,347      

Current liabilities

Payable to REIT Management Company - related party 12 40,197             39,305             
Security deposits 13 545,993           497,688           
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 14 261,792           247,049           
Unclaimed dividend 15 17,985             14,827             
Total current liabilities 865,967           798,869           

Contingencies and commitments 16

Total unit holders' fund and liabilities 74,054,969      70,295,216      

Net asset value per unit 32.91               31.25               

The annexed notes from 1 to 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

----------------- (Rupees)----------------------

----------------- (Rupees in '000) -----------------

of



Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2024

2024 2023

Profit for the year 8,140,055     9,291,819     

Other comprehensive income -                -                

Total comprehensive income for the year 8,140,055     9,291,819     

The annexed notes from 1 to 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

----------------- (Rupees in '000) -----------------

Statement of Changes In Unit Holders' Fund
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Revenue reserve

Note (Note 11.1) (Note 11.2)

Balance as at 30 June 2022 22,237,000       281,346            40,584,189  40,865,535  926,757               64,029,292    

Transactions with owners:

Cash dividend for the period ended 
30 June 2022 (Re. 0.41 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (911,717)              (911,717)        
Cash dividend for the period ended 
30 September 2022 (Re. 0.43 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (956,191)              (956,191)        
Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 December 2022 (Re. 0.43 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (956,191)              (956,191)        
Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 March 2023 (Re. 0.45 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (1,000,665)           (1,000,665)     

-                    -                   -               -              (3,824,764)           (3,824,764)     

Total comprehensive income for the year -                    -                   -               -              9,291,819            9,291,819      

Reclassification adjustment relating to changes 
in fair value of investment property 4 -                    -                   5,225,670    5,225,670    (5,225,670)           -                 

Balance as at 30 June 2023 22,237,000       281,346            45,809,859  46,091,205  1,168,142            69,496,347    

Transactions with owners 

Cash dividend for the period ended 
30 June 2023 (Re. 0.5 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (1,111,850)           (1,111,850)     
Cash dividend for the period ended 
30 September 2023 (Re. 0.5 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (1,111,850)           (1,111,850)     
Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 December 2023 (Re. 0.5 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (1,111,850)           (1,111,850)     
Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 March 2024 (Re. 0.5 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (1,111,850)           (1,111,850)     

-                    -                   -               -              (4,447,400)           (4,447,400)     

Total comprehensive income for the year -                    -                   -               -              8,140,055            8,140,055      

Reclassification adjustment relating to changes 
in fair value of investment property 4 -                    -                   3,625,022    3,625,022    (3,625,022)           -                 

Balance as at 30 June 2024 22,237,000       281,346            49,434,881  49,716,227  1,235,775            73,189,002    

The annexed notes from 1 to 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Reserves

-------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------------

Capital reserves
TotalFair value

reserve 

Issued, 
subscribed and 

paid up units

Total unit 
holders' 

fundPremium on 
issue of 

units - net

Unappropriated 
profit

Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 2024 2023

Revenue
Rental income 17 4,854,664         4,318,760      
Marketing income 18 303,933            258,387         

5,158,597         4,577,147      

Administrative and operating expenses 19 (817,812)           (580,271)        
Impairment reversal / (loss) on receivables 5.1 7,260                (17,688)          
Net operating income 4,348,045         3,979,188      

Other income 20 338,952            244,338         
4,686,997         4,223,526      

Management fee 12.2 (130,441)           (119,376)        
Sindh sales tax on management fee 12.2 (16,957)             (15,519)          
Trustee fee 14.4 (21,740)             (19,896)          
Sindh sales tax on trustee fee 14.4 (2,826)               (2,586)            

(171,964)           (157,377)        
Profit before change in fair value of 
investment property 4,515,033         4,066,149      

Unrealized gain on remeasurement of fair 
value of investment property 4 3,625,022         5,225,670      
Profit before tax 8,140,055         9,291,819      

Income tax expense 21 -                   -                 
Profit for the year 8,140,055         9,291,819      

------------------------- (Rupees) -------------------------

Earnings per unit - Basic and diluted 22 3.66                  4.18               

The annexed notes from 1 to 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

----------------- (Rupees in '000) -----------------
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year 8,140,055       9,291,819      

Adjustments for non cash items:
Unrealised gain on remeasurement of fair value of 
Investment property 4 (3,625,022)      (5,225,670)     
Liability written back 20 (10,901)           (647)               
Impairment (reversal) / loss on receivables 5.1 (7,260)             17,688           
Profit on bank deposits and Term deposit 20 (328,051)         (243,691)        

4,168,821       3,839,499      
Working capital changes
(Increase) / decrease in current assets
Rent and marketing receivables 14,335            34,604           
Advances and deposits (169,534)         (12,118)          

(155,199)         22,486           
Increase / (decrease) in current liabilities
Payable to the REIT Management Company - related party 892                 6,736             
Security deposits 48,305            38,391           
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 14,743            (37,296)          

63,940            7,831             
Cash generated from operations 4,077,562       3,869,816      

Tax paid (4,950)             (8,319)            
Net cash from operating activities 4,072,612       3,861,497      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Profit on deposits received 341,648          232,048         
Net investment in term deposit receipts 50,700            (6,722)            
Net cash used in investing activities 392,348          225,326         

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

Dividend paid (4,444,242)      (3,823,172)     
Net cash from financing activity (4,444,242)      (3,823,172)     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 20,718            263,651         
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 1,831,446       1,567,795      
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 23 1,852,164       1,831,446      

The annexed notes from 1 to 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

-------- (Rupees in '000) --------

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2024

2024 2023

Profit for the year 8,140,055     9,291,819     

Other comprehensive income -                -                

Total comprehensive income for the year 8,140,055     9,291,819     

The annexed notes from 1 to 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

----------------- (Rupees in '000) -----------------

Statement of Changes In Unit Holders' Fund
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Revenue reserve

Note (Note 11.1) (Note 11.2)

Balance as at 30 June 2022 22,237,000       281,346            40,584,189  40,865,535  926,757               64,029,292    

Transactions with owners:

Cash dividend for the period ended 
30 June 2022 (Re. 0.41 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (911,717)              (911,717)        
Cash dividend for the period ended 
30 September 2022 (Re. 0.43 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (956,191)              (956,191)        
Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 December 2022 (Re. 0.43 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (956,191)              (956,191)        
Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 March 2023 (Re. 0.45 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (1,000,665)           (1,000,665)     

-                    -                   -               -              (3,824,764)           (3,824,764)     

Total comprehensive income for the year -                    -                   -               -              9,291,819            9,291,819      

Reclassification adjustment relating to changes 
in fair value of investment property 4 -                    -                   5,225,670    5,225,670    (5,225,670)           -                 

Balance as at 30 June 2023 22,237,000       281,346            45,809,859  46,091,205  1,168,142            69,496,347    

Transactions with owners 

Cash dividend for the period ended 
30 June 2023 (Re. 0.5 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (1,111,850)           (1,111,850)     
Cash dividend for the period ended 
30 September 2023 (Re. 0.5 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (1,111,850)           (1,111,850)     
Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 December 2023 (Re. 0.5 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (1,111,850)           (1,111,850)     
Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 March 2024 (Re. 0.5 per unit) -                    -                   -               -              (1,111,850)           (1,111,850)     

-                    -                   -               -              (4,447,400)           (4,447,400)     

Total comprehensive income for the year -                    -                   -               -              8,140,055            8,140,055      

Reclassification adjustment relating to changes 
in fair value of investment property 4 -                    -                   3,625,022    3,625,022    (3,625,022)           -                 

Balance as at 30 June 2024 22,237,000       281,346            49,434,881  49,716,227  1,235,775            73,189,002    

The annexed notes from 1 to 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Reserves

-------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------------

Capital reserves
TotalFair value

reserve 

Issued, 
subscribed and 

paid up units

Total unit 
holders' 

fundPremium on 
issue of 

units - net

Unappropriated 
profit
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024
1 STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

1.1

1.2

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1

-

-

-

2.1.1

2.2 Basis of accounting

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

Dolmen City REIT ("the Scheme") was established under Trust Deed, dated 20 January 2015, executed between Arif Habib 
Dolmen REIT Management Limited (AHDRML), as the REIT Management Company (RMC) and Central Depositary 
Company of Pakistan Limited (CDCPL), as the Trustee. The Scheme is governed under Sindh Trust Act, 2020 and is 
governed under the Real Estate Investment Trust Regulations, 2022 (REIT Regulations, 2022) (previously REIT Regulation, 
2015), promulgated and amended from time to time by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

The registered office of the REIT Management Company is situated at Arif Habib Center, 23 M.T. Khan Road, Karachi. All of
the activities undertaken by the Scheme including but not limited to deposits and placements with banks, rental and
marketing income earned were all in accordance with principle of Shariah. The principle activity of the Scheme is to
generate rental income through investment property and distribute the income to unitholders through dividends.

The Trust Deed of the Scheme was registered on 20 January 2015 whereas approval of the registration of the REIT Scheme
has been granted by the SECP on 29 May 2015. The Scheme is a perpetual, closed-ended, shariah compliant rental REIT.
The Scheme is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange. On 29 November 2023, VIS Credit Rating Company Limited assigned
rating "AAA(rr)" to the Scheme. Similarly, on 11 December 2023, VIS Credit Rating Company Limited assigned rating
"AM2+" to RMC. 

Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in 
Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

The Scheme commenced its commercial activities on 01 June 2015. The Scheme was the subsidiary of International
Complex Projects Limited (ICPL) directly holding 75% of the units. The Board of Directors of the ICPL in its meeting held on
22 April 2021 approved the Scheme of arrangement for re-organization / re-arrangement of the Dolmen Group comprising
restructuring of ICPL. The arrangement became effective on 01 July 2021 as sanctioned by the Honorable High Court of
Sindh vide its Order dated 03 November 2021. Consequently, units held by ICPL were transferred to its associated
undertakings i.e. Dolmen (Private) Limited and Al-Feroz (Private) Limited, as envisaged in the said Scheme of arrangement
in equal proportion.

These financial statements have been prepared under the 'historical cost convention' except for investment property which
has been measured at fair value.

Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 and Part VIIIA of the repealed Companies
Ordinance, 1984; and

The Real Estate Investment Trust Regulations 2022 (the REIT Regulations, 2022).

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as
notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

Where the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017, Part VIII A of the repealed Companies
Ordinance, 1984 and REIT Regulations, 2022 differ from the IFRS standards, the provisions of and directives issued under
Companies Act, 2017 and REIT Regulations, 2022 have been followed.

On 28 November 2022, Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan vide S.R.O 2067/2022 has replaced REIT 
Regulations, 2015 with REIT Regulations, 2022 which came into force with immediate effect.

These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees which is the Scheme's functional and presentation currency.
All figures have been rounded off to nearest thousand of rupees unless, otherwise stated.



-
-
-
-

- Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments – 
Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures; and

- Financial Assets with ESG-Linked features.

- not related directly to a change in basic lending risks or costs; and
- are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

- Recognition / Derecognition requirements of Financial Assets / liabilities by Electronic Payments.

- no practical ability to withdraw, stop or cancel the payment instruction;
- no practical ability to access the cash to be used for settlement as a result of the payment instruction;
- the settlement risk associated with the electronic payment system is insignificant.

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The Scheme has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these financial statements. 
In addition, the Scheme adopted Disclosure of Accounting policies (Amendments to lAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2)
from 1 January 2023. The amendments require the Disclosure of material' rather than 'significant accounting policies. 
Although the amendments did not result in any changes to the accounting policies themselves, they impacted the accounting 
policies information disclosed below:

3.1 Investment Property

The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Earlier application is 
permitted.

Investment property is the property which is held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not
for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Investment property is initially measured at cost and subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognized in statement of profit or loss.

The amendments apply for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. Companies can choose to early-adopt
these amendments (including the associated disclosure requirements), separately from the amendments for the recognition
and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify when a financial asset or a financial liability is recognized and derecognized and provide
an exception for certain financial liabilities settled using an electronic payment system. Companies generally derecognize
their trade payables on the settlement date (i.e., when the payment is completed). However, the amendments provide an
exception for the derecognition of financial liabilities. The exception allows the company to derecognize its trade payable
before the settlement date, when it uses an electronic payment system that meets all of the following criteria: 

Under IFRS 9, it was unclear whether the contractual cash flows of some financial assets with ESG-linked features
represented SPPI. This could have resulted in financial assets with ESG-linked features being measured at fair value
through profit or loss. 

The amendments also include additional disclosures for all financial assets and financial liabilities that have certain
contingent features that are:

Although the new amendments are more permissive, they apply to all contingent features, not just ESG-linked features. 
While the amendments may allow certain financial assets with contingent features to  meet the SPPI criterion, companies 
may need to perform additional work to prove this. Judgement will be required in determining whether the new test is met. 

The amendments introduce an additional SPPI test for financial assets with contingent features that are not related directly 
to a change in basic lending risks or costs – e.g., where the cash flows change depending on whether the borrower meets 
an ESG target specified in the loan contract.

The above standards, interpretations and amendments are not likely to have an impact on the Scheme's financial 
statements. Earlier application is permitted.

Further, companies will need to provide new disclosures to help users assess the impact of using an estimated
exchange rate on the financial statements. These disclosures might include:

the nature and financial impacts of the currency not being exchangeable;
the spot exchange rate used;

risks to the entity because the currency is not exchangeable.
the estimation process; and
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2.4 Use of judgments and estimates

- Investment property (notes 3.1 and 4);

- Allowance for impairment (reversal) / loss on receivables (notes 3.2.5 and 5); and

- Provisions and contingencies (notes 3.5 and 16).

2.5

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
-

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS
28) amend accounting treatment on loss of control of business or assets. The amendments also introduce new
accounting for less frequent transaction that involves neither cost nor full step-up of certain retained interests in assets
that are not businesses. The effective date for these changes has been deferred indefinitely until the completion of a
broader review.

:yfiralc )12 SAI ot stnemdnema( ytilibaegnahcxE fo kcaL 

when a currency is exchangeable into another currency; and
how an entity estimates a spot rate when a currency lacks exchangeability.

Supplier Finance Arrangements (amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7) introduce two new disclosure objectives for an
entity to provide information about its supplier finance arrangements that would enable users (investors) to assess the
effects of these arrangements on the entity's liabilities and cash flows, and the entity's exposure to liquidity risk. Under
the amendments, entities also need to disclose the type and effect of non-cash changes in the carrying amounts of the
financial liabilities that are part of a supplier finance arrangement. The amendments also add supplier finance
arrangements as an example to the existing disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 on factors an entity might consider when
providing specific quantitative liquidity risk disclosures about its financial liabilities. The amendments are effective for
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. However, some relief from providing
certain information in the year of initial application is available.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting standards that are not yet 
effective.

The following International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017 and
the amendments and interpretations thereto will be effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2024:

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (Amendments to IAS 1 in January 2020) apply retrospectively for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 (as deferred vide amendments to IAS 1 in October 2022) with
earlier application permitted. These amendments in the standards have been added to further clarify when a liability is
classified as current. Convertible debt may need to be reclassified as 'current'. The standard also amends the aspect of
classification of liability as non-current by requiring the assessment of the entity's right at the end of the reporting period
to defer the settlement of liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. An entity's expectation and
discretion at the reporting date to refinance or to reschedule payments on a long-term basis are no longer relevant for
the classification of a liability as current or non-current. An entity shall apply those amendments retrospectively in
accordance with IAS 8. 

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (amendment to IAS 1 in October 2022) aims to improve the information an entity
provides when its right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months is subject to compliance with
conditions. The amendment is also intended to address concerns about classifying such a liability as current or non-
current. Only covenants with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of a
liability as current or non-current. Covenants with which the entity must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future
covenants) do not affect a liability's classification at that date. However, when non-current liabilities are subject to future
covenants, entities will now need to disclose information to help users understand the risk that those liabilities could
become repayable within 12 months after the reporting date. The amendments apply retrospectively for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with earlier application permitted. These amendments also specify the
transition requirements for entities that may have early-adopted the previously issued but not yet effective 2020
amendments to IAS 1 (as referred above). 

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (amendment to IFRS 16 in September 2022) adds subsequent measurement
requirements for sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy the requirements to be accounted for as a sale. The
amendment confirms that on initial recognition, the seller-lessee includes variable lease payments when it measures a
lease liability arising from a sale-and-leaseback transaction. After initial recognition, the seller-lessee applies the
general requirements for subsequent accounting of the lease liability such that it recognizes no gain or loss relating to
the right of use it retains. A seller-lessee may adopt different approaches that satisfy the new requirements on
subsequent measurement. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 with earlier application permitted. Under IAS 8, a seller-lessee will need to apply the amendments retrospectively
to sale-and-leaseback transactions entered into or after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 and will need to identify
and re-examine sale-and-leaseback transactions entered into since implementation of IFRS 16 in 2019, and potentially
restate those that included variable lease payments. If an entity (a seller-lessee) applies the amendments arising from
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback for an earlier period, the entity shall disclose that fact. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. In addition, it requires management to exercise judgement in the 
process of applying the Scheme’s accounting policies. The areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are documented in the following 
accounting policies and notes, and relate primarily to:



3.2

3.2.1

3.2.2 Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

-

-

-

-

Financial assets - Business model assessment

-

it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets; and 

its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Scheme may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. On
initial recognition, the Scheme may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be
measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI or at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
that would otherwise arise.

The Scheme makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio
level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The
information considered includes:

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include whether
management's strategy focuses on earning contractual mark-up income, maintaining a particular mark-up rate profile,
matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or
realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets;

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as: amortised cost, Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income
(OCI) or fair value through profit or loss (if any).

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Scheme changes its business model
for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:

its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

Financial Instruments

Recognition and initial measurement

Receivables are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
recognized when the Scheme becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially
measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction
price.

The Scheme determines the fair value of its investment property after every six months through an independent qualified
valuer fulfilling the minimum criteria stated by the REIT Regulations, 2022. The valuer under REIT Regulations, 2022 is
required to carry out valuation and explicitly state the reasoning for the approach adopted that is most appropriate for the
Scheme. The valuer has stated that Income Capitalization Approach - "Projected Net Operating Income (NOI) based on
existing rental agreements and expected rent for the vacant area" is the most appropriate / relevant approach used for
income producing properties i.e. rental properties.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that the future economic benefits associated with the items will flow to the Scheme and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. Maintenance and normal repairs are charged to statement of profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.
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-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Financial assets- Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at amortised 
cost

Debt investments at FVOCI

Equity investments at FVOCI

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Scheme's management;

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model)
and how those risks are managed;

how managers of the business are compensated - e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets
managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
expectations about future sales activity.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and
losses are recognized in statement of profit or loss. 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Markup income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognized in profit or loss.
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Markup income
calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are
recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains
and losses are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or
loss.

contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;

prepayment and extension features; and 

terms that limit the Scheme's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment amount
substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include
reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a
discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that
substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include
reasonable compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment
feature is insignificant at initial recognition.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales for
this purpose, consistent with the Scheme's continuing recognition of the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets - Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition.
'Interest' is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative
costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Scheme considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that
could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this
assessment, the Scheme considers:



Financial liabilities - Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses 

3.2.3 Derecognition

Financial assets 

Financial liabilities

3.2.4 Offsetting

3.2.5 Impairment on financial assets

The Scheme recognizes loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) on:

-
-
-

-

-

The Scheme considers a financial asset to be in default when:

-

-

the customer is unlikely to pay its balance to the Scheme in full, without recourse by the Scheme to actions such as
realizing security (if any is held); or

the financial asset is past due for more than 180 days.

The Scheme considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally
understood definition of ‘investment grade'.

other debt securities and bank balances, if any for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 
estimating ECLs, the Scheme considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without 
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Scheme's 
historical experience and informed credit assessment, that includes inducing forward-looking information.

The Scheme assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

financial assets measured at amortized cost;
debt instruments measured at FVOCI, if any; and 
contract assets, if any.

The Scheme measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured
at 12-month ECLs:

debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date, if any; and

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when,
and only when, the Scheme currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle
them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it
is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at
FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in profit or loss.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Markup expense
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognized
in profit or loss.

The Scheme enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized in its statement of financial position, but retains 
either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not 
derecognized.

The Scheme derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. The 
Scheme also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are 
substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid 
(including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognized in profit or loss.

The Scheme derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or 
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Scheme neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Measurement of ECLs

Credit impaired financial assets

-

-

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Scheme on terms that the Scheme would not consider otherwise;

-

-

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Write-off

3.3 Impairment of non-financial assets

3.4 Cash and cash equivalents

3.5 Provisions 

3.6 Taxation

At each reporting date, the Scheme reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use is based on the
estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in
profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-months ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period 
if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Scheme is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Scheme expects to receive).

At each reporting date, the Scheme assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-
impaired ' when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

a breach of contract such as a default or being past due for more than the agreed term;

it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Current

Provisions are recognized when the Scheme has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of that can be made. Provisions are
reviewed at each reporting date and accordingly adjusted to reflect current best estimate.

Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income at the current rates of taxes after taking into account tax credits and rebates, if any. The
charge for current tax is calculated using the prevailing tax rates.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Scheme has no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its
entirety or a portion thereof. The Scheme makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a
reasonable expectation of recovery. The Scheme expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are
written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Scheme's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of balances with banks and term deposit receipts having maturity of not more than three months.
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3.7 Revenue Recognition

-

-

- Profit on bank deposits is recognized on a time proportionate basis using effective yield method.

3.8 Fair value measurement

3.9 Earnings per unit (EPU)

3.10 Net assets value per unit

The Scheme is also exempt from the provisions of section 113 (minimum tax) under clause 11A of Part IV of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax 
Ordinance, 2001.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Scheme has access at that date. The fair value of a
liability reflects its non-performance risk.

A number of the Scheme's accounting policies and disclosure require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets and
liabilities.

Revenue from marketing activities is recognized when the event is performed and performance obligation is satisfied.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the
consideration given or received. If the Scheme determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value
is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on valuation technique for which any
unobservable input are judged to be insignificant in related to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value,
adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized in
profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but not later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market
data or the transaction is closed out.

The Scheme presents basic and diluted earnings per unit data for its ordinary units. Basic EPU is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable
to unitholders of the Scheme by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. Diluted EPU is determined by adjusting the profit
or loss attributable to unitholders and the weighted average number of unitholders outstanding after the effects of all dilutive potential units.

The net assets value (NAV) per unit as disclosed on the statement of financial position is calculated by dividing the net assets of the Scheme by the
number of units outstanding at the year end.

When one is available, the Scheme measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market
is regarded as 'active' if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an
ongoing basis.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet method in respect of all temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of the taxable profit. The deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilized. Deferred tax is
calculated at the rates that are expected to apply to the period when the differences reverse, based on enacted tax rates.

Income of the Scheme is exempt from income tax under clause 99 of the Part I of the 2nd Schedule of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, subject to
the condition that not less than 90% of its accounting income for the year as reduced by capital gains, whether realized or unrealized, is distributed in
cash amongst the unit holders, provided that for the purpose of determining distribution of not less than 90% of its accounting income for the year, the
income distributed through bonus units shall not be taken into account.

Rental income from investment property is recognized as revenue on a straight line basis over the non-cancellable period of the lease, unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use / benefit derived from the investment property is diminished.

Deferred

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Scheme uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into
account in pricing a transaction.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Scheme measures assets and long positions at a bid price
and liabilities and short position at an ask price.

3.11 Dividend distribution

3.12 Finance income and finance cost

The Scheme's finance income and finance costs include:

- markup income; and
- markup expense.

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
- the amortized cost of the financial liability.

4 INVESTMENT PROPERTY
2024 2023

Note

Balance at 1 July 68,046,859              62,821,189              
Add: Unrealized gain on remeasurement of fair value of investment property 3,625,022                5,225,670                
Balance at 30 June 4.2 4 71,671,881              68,046,859              

Note
Dolmen Mall Harbour Front Total

Projected net operating income of 2025 (Rs'000) 3,515,434           1,050,065                4,565,499                
Capitalisation rate (%) 4.2.1 6.37% 6.37% 6.37%
Fair value (Rs'000) 55,187,348         16,484,533              71,671,881              

Dolmen Mall Harbour Front Total
Projected net operating income of 2024 (Rs'000) 3,102,936           979,875                   4,082,811                
Capitalisation rate (%) 4.2.1 6% 6% 6%
Fair value (Rs'000) 51,715,615         16,331,244              68,046,859              

Property wise movement of unrealized gain on remeasurement of fair value of investment property:

Dolmen Mall Harbour Front Total
Balance at 1 July 2023 51,715,615         16,331,244              68,046,859              
Add: Unrealized gain on remeasurement of fair value of investment property 3,471,733           153,289                   3,625,022                
Balance at 30 June 2024 55,187,348         16,484,533              71,671,881              

4.1

4.1.1

4.1.2

Dividend distribution to the Scheme's unitholders and appropriation to reserve is recognized in the financial statements as a liability in the period in which these dividends are approved.
However, if these are approved after the reporting period but before the financial statements are authorized for issue, they are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

The investment property comprises of the buildings on leasehold land named as the "DOLMEN CITY MALL" and "THE HARBOUR FRONT", comprising of two basements (460,438 square
feet), ground floor (241,052 square feet), mezzanine floor (19,879 square feet), first floor (275,399 square feet), second floor (272,972 square feet), plant and transformer rooms (27,667
square feet), third to twentieth floors (270,271 square feet) having a total covered area of 1,567,678 square feet with 15,201.68 square yards undivided share in the plot bearing No. HC-3,
Block 4, KDA, Scheme 5, Marine Drive, Karachi.

Rental income and marketing income earned from investment property for the year ended 30 June 2024 amounted to Rs. 4,855 million and Rs. 304 million (2023: Rs. 4,319 million and Rs.
258 million) respectively.

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property have been disclosed in note 19.4 to these financial statements.

The Scheme as a lessor has entered into operating leases with the tenants on its investment property consisting of Dolmen Mall Clifton ("DMC") and The Harbour Front ("THF"). These
leases have terms of one to five years with non-cancellable period ranges from six to twelve months. Moreover, tripartite agreements were entered between the Scheme, tenant and
property manager, where common area management services were delegated to property manager namely Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) Limited. Accordingly, the Scheme is
not the principal for their services as it is not engaged / involved in the provision of these services.

Rental income is recognized on a straight line basis over the non-cancellable lease term. Non-cancellable lease term includes only the period in which both parties do not have the right to
cancel / terminate the agreement. Due to the fact that it is more likely that the tenants may substitute their business place from the Scheme's managed premises to other premises, the
management has recognized rental considering the non-cancellable period of six to twelve months.

Finance income or cost is recognized using the effective interest method. The 'effective interest rate' is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instruments to:

In calculating finance income and cost, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortized cost of the
liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, markup income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortized
cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of markup income reverts to the gross basis.

------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

2024

2023

2024
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The future aggregate minimum rentals receivable including non-cancellable period under operating leases as at 30 June are as follows:
2024 2023

No later than one year - non cancellable 4,154,047                4,739,636                

Later than one year but not later than five years - cancellable 5,264,108                5,717,463                

Later than five years - cancellable 340,380                   238,947                   
9,758,535                10,696,046              

4.2

The valuer used the following approaches:
2024 2023

Cost approach:
- Dolmen Mall 36,643,772              36,147,723              
- The Harbour Front 7,801,921                7,450,153                

44,445,693              43,597,876              

Sales comparison approach:
- Dolmen Mall 75,497,848              70,847,908              
- The Harbour Front 12,185,840              11,544,480              

87,683,688              82,392,388              

Income capitalization approach - using capitalization rate of 6.37% 6%

(a) Valuer’s assessment of net operating income
Dolmen Mall Harbour Front Total

Net operating income (Rs'000) 3,460,016 994,365                   4,454,381                
Capitalisation rate (%) 6.37% 6.37% 6.37%
Fair value (Rs'000) 54,317,368         15,610,118              69,927,486              

(b) On projected net operating income based on existing rental 
agreements and expected rent for the vacant area 

Dolmen Mall Harbour Front Total
Net operating income (Rs'000) 3,515,434           1,050,065                4,565,499                
Capitalisation rate (%) 6.37% 6.37% 6.37%
Fair value (Rs'000) 55,187,348         16,484,533              71,671,881              

4.2.1

The details of the investment property and information about its fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting year are as follows:

Dolmen Mall Clifton and The Harbour Front 71,671,881              71,671,881              

Dolmen Mall Clifton and The Harbour Front 68,046,859              68,046,859              

Significant unobservable inputs
2024 2023

The fair value has been carried out considering following inputs:

Projected income of the following year                 5,710,340                 5,028,376 
               (1,144,841)                   (945,565)
                4,565,499                 4,082,811 

6.37% 6%

The fair value measurement for the investment property has been categorized within Level 3 fair value hierarchy which is considered as highest and best use of investment property. The
fair value has been carried out considering following inputs:

Level 3  Fair value
as at 30

June 2024 
-------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------

Level 3  Fair value as at 
30 June 2023 

--------- (Rupees in '000) ---------

The investment property has been valued by MYK Associates ('the Valuer') as at 30 June 2024, who is an independent valuer. The valuer is enlisted with Pakistan Bank's Association and
Pakistan Engineering Council and has recent experience in the location and category of the property being valued.

-------- (Rupees in '000) ---------

The valuer in its valuation report has stated that out of three approaches “income capitalisation approach” is the most appropriate approach used for income producing properties i.e. rental
properties. The valuer has determined two values under income capitalisation approach as stated above, however recommended that the valuation on the projected NOI of following year
based on existing rental agreements and expected rent for the vacant area is most appropriate for the Scheme. Accordingly, investment property has been valued in these financial
statements under income capitalisation approach using 6.37% capitalisation rate on projected NOI based on the existing rental agreements and expected rent for the vacant area. During
the year, the management in consultation with its valuer evaluated the capitalisation rate and accordingly revised the same to 6.37% (2023: 6%) by adjusting the capitalisation rate of 5.21%
(2023: 4.96%) (based on sales comparison approach) to incorporate the average buffer rate of 1.16% for the last 3 years to arrive at the capitalisation rate of 6.37%.

The forced sales value of the investment property is assessed to be Rs. 70,147 million (30 June 2023: Rs. 65,914 million).  

Fair value hierarchy

2024

2024

-------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------

-------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------

-------- (Percentage) ---------
Capitalization rate

Projected operating cost of the following year
Projected NOI of the following year

Change in each of the below significant unobservable input would have effect on fair value of investment property as shown below. The analysis assumes that
all other variables remain constant and is performed on the same basis as for annual financial statement for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Change
 in input

2024
2023

- Projected income (based on existing leasing contracts) + 5% 4,482,214              4,190,314              
- Projected income (based on existing leasing contracts) - 5% (4,482,214)             (4,190,314)             
- Projected operating costs + 5% (898,620)                (787,971)                
- Projected operating costs - 5% 898,620                 787,971                 
- Capitalization rate + 1% (9,724,814)             (9,720,978)             
- Capitalization rate - 1% 13,346,719            13,609,369            

Contents of the valuation report

The full scope valuation report has been prepared in accordance with the International Valuation Standards (IVS).

Dolmen City Mall 

The Dolmen Mall having a built-up area of approximately 1 million square feet shopping and entertainment facilities as well as a food court.

The Harbour Front

Pakistan’s premier corporate address, “The Harbour Front” is located on the scenic coastline of Karachi, soaring 19-levels above the Arabian Sea. This
modern triangular tower is home to the leading local and multi-national corporations. With an area of over 270,270.67 square feet of office space spread over
17 levels, The Harbour Front provides spacious and inspirational environment to conduct their everyday business.

The Dolmen City Mall and Harbour Front is constructed on amalgamated HC-3, Block No: 04, Scheme No: 05, Marine Drive, Clifton, Karachi measuring total
area of 37,666.65 Square Yards and REIT shared area 15,201.68 square yards in an irregular shape. The vertically skywards triangular complex Harbour
Front (Offices) comprises of three to nineteen floors.

Valuation approaches

Summary Pros
The “Cost Approach” is a real estate This approach provides basis for 
valuation method in which a buyer should determining replacement value of the
pay for a property that should equal the  asset or property or any other fixed item 
cost to build an equivalent building. In cost or utility service in the premise. Indeed, for 
approach appraisal, the market price for consideration in such approach the final 
the property is equal to the cost of land shape of the project should have similarity 
plus cost of construction and services along with similar utilities / facilities in 
therein such as generator, power plant, construction.
chiller plant and other services for 
multistory building.
The "sales comparison approach" is to This approach is commonly used in the 
compare recently-sold properties (local real estate comparison or appraisals for 
similar) with the other similar property. similar type of property.
Price adjustments are made for differences 
in the comparable factors of the property. 
In fact, the “Sales Comparison Approach” 
is the basic foundation knowledge for the 
real estate professionals.

The "income capitalization approach" is a This approach allows investors to estimate 
real estate appraisal method that allows the value of a property based on the net 
investors to estimate the value of a operating income (generated by the real 
 property by taking the net operating estate) using a capitalization rate. This is 
income of the rent collected and dividing it most common used approach to 

determine by the capitalization rate. This usually the value of income generating real estate 
appears in percentage. A method that and it can be regarded as the most 
appraises real estate income and then appropriate valuation basis for income 
converts this income into an estimate of its generating real estate as compared to two 
value. Appraisers generally use this method other approaches as the said approach is 
for commercial buildings such as shopping based upon principle that reflects the 
centers, office buildings and large value of property based on the income 
apartment buildings. The basic formula for generated from it and in case of income 
this approach is commonly referred as (IRV): generating real estate business the main 

purpose of the real estate is to accrue the 
Net operating income (I) ÷ capitalization benefit of the income generated through 
 rate (R) = value (V) it to the investors over the long period of 

time.

Cost approach

Sales comparison 
approach

Income Capitalization 
Approach

Cons

Effect on fair value

------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

Sensitivity analysis

Approach

cost approach can emerge.

This approach does not take into account 
the loss of income during  construction 
up till the completion of project achieving 
desired occupancy.  Then true picture of 

Approach assumes stable market 
conditions. It may not account for market 
volatility, such as sudden shifts in demand, 
rental rates, or interest rates, which can 
affect property values.

True Sale Comparison Approach is 
emerged when there is any such process 
of sale/purchase in near past however, in 
case of the Scheme, there is no similar 
building in the vicinity and at present there 
has been no deal or transaction of similar 
size project or property in Karachi for 
comparison with Dolmen City project. This 
approach is generally suitable where the 
business is buying and selling of property.

The approach relies heavily on 
assumptions about future net operating
income (NOI) and capitalization rates 
can be subjective. Income Capitalization 



5 RENT AND MARKETING RECEIVABLES

Note 2024 2023

Rent and marketing receivables              157,060 164,720             
Receivable from related party 2,581                 11,887               

159,641             176,607             
Less: impairment allowance 5.1               (60,541) (70,432)              

5.2 99,100               106,175             

5.1 Movement of impairment loss on receivables:

Balance at 1 July 70,432               52,744               
(Reversal) / charge during the year (7,260)                17,688               
Write off (2,631)                -                     
Balance at 30 June 60,541               70,432               

5.2 The ageing of the total rent and marketing receivables as at the reporting date is as under:

Credit
Impaired

Weighted 
average 
loss rate

Gross
receivable

Security
deposit

Net 
exposure

Impairment Net
receivable

%

Not past due No 6% 24,268       1,016       23,252               1,385                 22,883               
Past due 1 - 90 days No 9% 54,619       15,256     39,363               3,489                 51,130               
Past due 91 - 180 days No 77% 18,695       7,829       10,866               8,398                 10,297               
Past due over 180 days Yes 100% 62,059       14,790     47,269               47,269               14,790               

159,641     38,891     120,750             60,541               99,100               

Credit
Impaired

Weighted 
average 
loss rate

Gross
receivable

Security
deposit

Net 
exposure

Impairment Net
receivable

% -------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------

Not past due No 3% 3,677         1,794       1,883                 60                      3,617                 
Past due 1 - 90 days No 8% 90,466       16,616     73,850               5,929                 84,537               
Past due 91 - 180 days No 76% 9,818         2,579       7,239                 5,533                 4,285                 
Past due over 180 days Yes 100% 72,646       13,736     58,910               58,910               13,736               

176,607     34,725     141,882             70,432               106,175             

5.2.1 The receivables from tenants are secured against the security deposits held by the Scheme.

5.2.2 The security deposit amount that has been netted from the receivable is for presentation purpose. 

5.3 Receivables due from related parties:
Gross

receivable
Past due
amount

Impairment Net
receivable

Dolmen (Private) Limited 2,581       2,581                 -                     2,581                 

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

Expected lifetime credit losses for receivables are recognized using the simplified approach. This is based on loss rates calculated from
historical and forward-looking data, taking into account the business model, the respective customer and the economic environment of the
geographical region. The loss allowance has been determined considering, both collectively and individually assessed receivables.

The Scheme writes off receivables when there is information indicating that the tenant is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the tenant has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

2024

-------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------

2024

2023

------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -----------------------------
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Basic calculation of land:

Calculation of cost of structure:

i) Dolmen City Shopping Mall:

Dolmen City Shopping Mall comprises of lower and upper basement, ground, mezzanine and three upper floors
(including earth work finishes of concealed roofing, flooring, paint, door and windows, lift system, internal and
external electrical work) by considering all these parameters. The construction cost for Dolmen city shopping mall is
approximately between Rs 20,000 to Rs 30,000 per square foot including all services depending upon the finishes
and architectural design of floors.

ii) Harbour Front Office Building:

The construction cost of Harbour Front Office Building has been taken approximately between Rs. 25,000 to
Rs 30,000 per square foot due to present market condition and depending upon the finishes and architectural
design of floors. The valuer has taken an average base cost of Rs 27,500 per square foot.

All possible factors have been taken critically into consideration to evaluate and determine the value of the REIT
Properties “Dolmen City Mall And Harbour Front” including the natural and physical condition of the plot area, type 
of building design and structure, type of construction, age of construction, state of infrastructure in the area, 
location, availability of utilities connection in the premises and Government’s future development measures to boost 
the commercial activities, reliability in return of investment in short term or long term plan basis.

This approach compares the subject property characteristics with those of comparable properties which have
recently been sold to determine the value of subject real estate. The process adjusts the prices of comparable
transactions according to the presence, absence, or degree of characteristics, which influence value. According to
valuer's market survey, no standard comparable building / project is available in the vicinity of the “Dolmen City Mall
and Harbour Front” Clifton for sale comparison, so the valuer cannot compare it for comparison approach. 
Whereas, at some distance from “Dolmen City Mall and Harbour Front” some other project having the same 
facilities, fitting and fixtures such as “The Centre Point”, “Ocean Tower” and “Park Tower” which have almost the 
similar rates as in the valuation report.

Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited has shared the occupancy projected status of the REIT property
(Dolmen City Mall and Harbour Front) with the projected rent and expenses for the assessment of value based on
the Income Capitalization Approach. The tenancy profile of Dolmen Mall is based on long term agreements with built
in rent escalation thus representing a clear picture of future revenue.

Out of the three approaches identified in REIT Regulations 2022, Income Capitalization Approach is generally
based on the principle that the value of the property reflects the quality and quantity of income it is expected to
generate over time. It is the most typical approach used for income producing properties i.e. rental properties.

Being based on actual agreements, this in comparison to income as per valuer’s assessment represents the more
representative determination for rental properties. Accordingly it is the most relevant approach for determination of
valuation of property for reporting purposes.

Generally, the expenditure is between the range of 18% to 22% of gross rental income based on the experience of
the valuer which is taken as 20% on average basis and capitalization rate should be in the range between 
6% - 6.5%. The valuer evaluated the capitalisation rate and accordingly revised the same to 6.37% (2023: 6%) by
adjusting the capitalisation rate of 5.21% (2023: 4.96%) (based on sales comparison approach) to incorporate the
average buffer rate of 1.16% for the last 3 years to arrive at the capitalisation rate of 6.37% to determine the value 
of property.
Valuer's assessment is computed with the assumption of market variables which influenced the value which may
vary unexpectedly time to time.

Summary of the valuation report:

Operation cost 20% of yearly rental
Occupancy 100%

Per annum growth 10%
Harbour Front average rental rate 0.85% of total value (average of all floors)
Per annum growth 10%

Dolmen Mall average rental rate Upper basement = 0.52% of total value
Ground floor = 0.48% of total value
First floor = 0.48% of total value
Second floor = 0.47% of total value
Second floor storage = 0.45% of total value

Depreciation on structure @ 3% per annum for 12 years by diminishing method
Dolmen Mall sales market value Rs 75,497,848,000
Harbour Front sales market value Rs 12,185,840,000

Average base cost of land Rs 1,000,000 per square yard
Construction cost of shopping mall Rs 20,000 to Rs 30,000 per square foot
Construction cost of office building Rs 27,500 per square foot (except 20th Floor)

Rs 20,000 per square foot (for 20th Floor)

Cost Approach

Sea view road is the most prestigious and prime real estate location mostly throughout the world and Karachi is also 
no different in this too. The Sea View road is fastly becoming the business hub of Karachi and it is almost impossible 
to find a plot on the main road or on the sea side.
To assess the value of the land in the area the survey of estate agents / property dealers was carried out. At present, 
the cost of the land on sea side and around this area has become very attractive and observed increasing trend in the 
cost between the range of Rs. 950,000 To Rs. 1,050,000 per square yard depending upon the location and size of the 
plot. Therefore, the valuer has taken the land value of Rs. 1,000,000 per square yard on similar parameters.

Sale Comparison Approach

Income Capitalization Approach - 
as per projected Net Operating 

Income (NOI)

Description Assessment

Approach Basis and explanation of valuation



Gross
receivable

Past due
amount

Impairment Net
receivable

Sindbad Wonder Land (Private) Limited 7,065       7,065                 -                     7,065                 
Dolmen (Private) Limited 4,692       4,692                 -                     4,692                 
Al-Feroz (Private) Limited 85            85                      -                     85                      
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited 45            45                      -                     45                      

11,887     11,887               -                     11,887               
5.4 Ageing analysis of receivables from related parties:

Weighted 
average 
loss rate

Gross
receivable

Security
deposit

Net 
exposure

Impairment Net
receivable

%

Not past due 0% -             -           -                     -                     -                     
Past due 1 - 90 days 0% 2,581         -           -                     -                     2,581                 
Past due 91 - 180 days 0% -             -           -                     -                     -                     
Past due over 180 days 0% -             -           -                     -                     -                     

2,581         -           -                     -                     2,581                 

Weighted 
average 
loss rate

Gross
receivable

Security
deposit

Net 
exposure

Impairment Net
receivable

%

Not past due 0% -             -           -                     -                     -                     
Past due 1 - 90 days 0% 11,799       -           -                     -                     11,799               
Past due 91 - 180 days 0% 3                -           -                     -                     3                        
Past due over 180 days 0% 85              -           -                     -                     85                      

11,887       -           -                     -                     11,887               

5.4.1 Impairment loss has not been recognized against these receivables as these are related parties against which there is no history of default.

5.5 The maximum aggregate amount due from the related parties at the end of any month during the year are as follows:

Month 2024 Month 2023
(Rupees in '000) (Rupees in '000)

 
Sindbad Wonder Land (Private) Limited April 23,316               May 14,036               
Al-Feroz (Private) Limited May 7,742                 January 2,346                 
Dolmen (Private) Limited March 2,581                 March 4,692                 
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited May 1,897                 January 1,991                 

6 ADVANCES AND DEPOSITS Note 2024 2023

Advances  
Advances to vendors 6.1 103,685             13,989               
Advance to Central Depository Company 6.2 12,325               9,184                 

116,010             23,173               

Security deposit 1,140                 959                    
Others 6.3 76,516               -                     

77,656               959                    

193,666             24,132               

6.1 This pertains to advance to various vendors on account of renovation activities in the Mall.

6.2

6.3 This represents amount deducted by the bank during the year for investment in term deposit (TDR) which was booked by the bank
subsequently in the month of July 2024.

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

--------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------

2023

This represents advance to CDC for processing of unclaimed dividend payments to unit holders.

-------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------

-------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------

2024

2023 7 ADVANCE TAX Note 2024 2023

Advance tax 7.1 225,268            220,318            
Provision for impairment 7.2 (4,728)               (4,728)               

220,540            215,590            

7.1

7.2

8 SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS Note 2024 2023

At amortized cost
Term deposit receipts having original maturity
- less than three months 61,544              700,000            
- more than three months -                    50,700              

8.1 61,544              750,700            

8.1

9 BANK BALANCES Note 2024 2023

Saving accounts 9.1 1,790,620         1,131,446         

9.1

10 ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP UNITS

2024 2023 2024 2023

Ordinary units of Rs 10 each fully paid for
  1,667,775,000   1,667,775,000 consideration other than cash (against property)        16,677,750        16,677,750 
     555,925,000      555,925,000 Fully paid in cash          5,559,250          5,559,250 
  2,223,700,000   2,223,700,000        22,237,000        22,237,000 

10.2 Pattern of unitholding

Percentage Units held Percentage Units held
Dolmen (Private) Limited
Al-Feroz (Private) Limited 37.5%      833,887,500 37.5%      833,887,500 
General Public 37.5%      833,887,500 37.5%      833,887,500 

25.0%      555,925,000 25.0%      555,925,000 
100%   2,223,700,000 100%   2,223,700,000 

10.3

10.4

10.5

11 CAPITAL RESERVES

11.1 Premium on issue of units - net

These fully paid ordinary units carry one vote per unit and equal right to dividend.

------ Number of Units ------

The units held by ICPL were transferred to its associated undertakings i.e. Dolmen (Private) Limited and Al Feroz (Private) Limited, as
per the scheme of arrangement (refer note 1.2).

This represents deposits held in riba free saving accounts carrying expected profit rates ranging from 7.5% to 20.5% (30 June 2023:
6.75% to 19.0%) per annum.

2024

In addition to above, units held by key management personnel and related parties, aggregated to 63.144 million units (2023: 63.144
million units).

This represents premium received amounted to Rs. 555.925 million against units issued to the unit holders at strike price of Rs. 11
per unit, which had been adjusted with formation costs of Rs. 274.579 million during the year ended 30 June 2015 as permitted by
section 81 of the Companies Act, 2017.

---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

2023

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

This represents term deposit receipts (TDRs) with Askari Bank Limited, carrying profit rates of 17.5% (30 June 2023: 14% to 20%) per
annum with maturity up to 22 July 2024. 

This represents advance tax deducted by delinquent tenants whose outstanding balance were fully provided in prior years.

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

This pertains to tax deducted by tenants due to unavailability of tax exemption certificate at the time of payment of rental and
marketing invoices raised by the Scheme.

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------
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Gross
receivable

Past due
amount

Impairment Net
receivable

Sindbad Wonder Land (Private) Limited 7,065       7,065                 -                     7,065                 
Dolmen (Private) Limited 4,692       4,692                 -                     4,692                 
Al-Feroz (Private) Limited 85            85                      -                     85                      
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited 45            45                      -                     45                      

11,887     11,887               -                     11,887               
5.4 Ageing analysis of receivables from related parties:

Weighted 
average 
loss rate

Gross
receivable

Security
deposit

Net 
exposure

Impairment Net
receivable

%

Not past due 0% -             -           -                     -                     -                     
Past due 1 - 90 days 0% 2,581         -           -                     -                     2,581                 
Past due 91 - 180 days 0% -             -           -                     -                     -                     
Past due over 180 days 0% -             -           -                     -                     -                     

2,581         -           -                     -                     2,581                 

Weighted 
average 
loss rate

Gross
receivable

Security
deposit

Net 
exposure

Impairment Net
receivable

%

Not past due 0% -             -           -                     -                     -                     
Past due 1 - 90 days 0% 11,799       -           -                     -                     11,799               
Past due 91 - 180 days 0% 3                -           -                     -                     3                        
Past due over 180 days 0% 85              -           -                     -                     85                      

11,887       -           -                     -                     11,887               

5.4.1 Impairment loss has not been recognized against these receivables as these are related parties against which there is no history of default.

5.5 The maximum aggregate amount due from the related parties at the end of any month during the year are as follows:

Month 2024 Month 2023
(Rupees in '000) (Rupees in '000)

 
Sindbad Wonder Land (Private) Limited April 23,316               May 14,036               
Al-Feroz (Private) Limited May 7,742                 January 2,346                 
Dolmen (Private) Limited March 2,581                 March 4,692                 
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited May 1,897                 January 1,991                 

6 ADVANCES AND DEPOSITS Note 2024 2023

Advances  
Advances to vendors 6.1 103,685             13,989               
Advance to Central Depository Company 6.2 12,325               9,184                 

116,010             23,173               

Security deposit 1,140                 959                    
Others 6.3 76,516               -                     

77,656               959                    

193,666             24,132               

6.1 This pertains to advance to various vendors on account of renovation activities in the Mall.

6.2

6.3 This represents amount deducted by the bank during the year for investment in term deposit (TDR) which was booked by the bank
subsequently in the month of July 2024.

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

--------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------

2023

This represents advance to CDC for processing of unclaimed dividend payments to unit holders.

-------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------

-------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------

2024

2023 7 ADVANCE TAX Note 2024 2023

Advance tax 7.1 225,268            220,318            
Provision for impairment 7.2 (4,728)               (4,728)               

220,540            215,590            

7.1

7.2

8 SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS Note 2024 2023

At amortized cost
Term deposit receipts having original maturity
- less than three months 61,544              700,000            
- more than three months -                    50,700              

8.1 61,544              750,700            

8.1

9 BANK BALANCES Note 2024 2023

Saving accounts 9.1 1,790,620         1,131,446         

9.1

10 ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP UNITS

2024 2023 2024 2023

Ordinary units of Rs 10 each fully paid for
  1,667,775,000   1,667,775,000 consideration other than cash (against property)        16,677,750        16,677,750 
     555,925,000      555,925,000 Fully paid in cash          5,559,250          5,559,250 
  2,223,700,000   2,223,700,000        22,237,000        22,237,000 

10.2 Pattern of unitholding

Percentage Units held Percentage Units held
Dolmen (Private) Limited
Al-Feroz (Private) Limited 37.5%      833,887,500 37.5%      833,887,500 
General Public 37.5%      833,887,500 37.5%      833,887,500 

25.0%      555,925,000 25.0%      555,925,000 
100%   2,223,700,000 100%   2,223,700,000 

10.3

10.4

10.5

11 CAPITAL RESERVES

11.1 Premium on issue of units - net

These fully paid ordinary units carry one vote per unit and equal right to dividend.

------ Number of Units ------

The units held by ICPL were transferred to its associated undertakings i.e. Dolmen (Private) Limited and Al Feroz (Private) Limited, as
per the scheme of arrangement (refer note 1.2).

This represents deposits held in riba free saving accounts carrying expected profit rates ranging from 7.5% to 20.5% (30 June 2023:
6.75% to 19.0%) per annum.

2024

In addition to above, units held by key management personnel and related parties, aggregated to 63.144 million units (2023: 63.144
million units).

This represents premium received amounted to Rs. 555.925 million against units issued to the unit holders at strike price of Rs. 11
per unit, which had been adjusted with formation costs of Rs. 274.579 million during the year ended 30 June 2015 as permitted by
section 81 of the Companies Act, 2017.

---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

2023

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

This represents term deposit receipts (TDRs) with Askari Bank Limited, carrying profit rates of 17.5% (30 June 2023: 14% to 20%) per
annum with maturity up to 22 July 2024. 

This represents advance tax deducted by delinquent tenants whose outstanding balance were fully provided in prior years.

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

This pertains to tax deducted by tenants due to unavailability of tax exemption certificate at the time of payment of rental and
marketing invoices raised by the Scheme.

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

11.2

12 PAYABLE TO REIT MANAGEMENT COMPANY - related party
Note 2024 2023

Management fee payable 34,116              33,246              
Sindh sales tax on management fee 12.1 6,081                6,008                
Other payable -                    51                     

12.2 40,197              39,305              

12.1

12.2

13 SECURITY DEPOSITS

14 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES Note 2024 2023

Unearned rental income 14.1 126,254            142,260            
Payable to associated undertakings 14.2 43,765              33,874              
Accrued expenses 39,603              24,579              
Monitoring fee payable to SECP 19.2 22,237              22,237              
Federal excise duty 14.3 11,980              11,980              
Sales tax and withholding income tax payable 8,132                3,315                
Trustee fee payable 14.4 6,252                6,261                
Takaful payable 1,227                -                    
Shariah advisory fee 124                   124                   
Other liabilities 2,218                2,419                

261,792            247,049            

14.1

14.2 Payable to associated undertakings 2024 2023

-  Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) Limited 43,685              31,975              
-  Al-Feroz (Private) Limited 40                     950                   
-  Dolmen (Private) Limited 40                     949                   

43,765              33,874              

14.3

The Sindh Revenue Board (SRB) and the Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) have filed appeals before Supreme Court of Pakistan
(SC) against the SHC’s decision dated 02 June 2016, which is pending for decision. With effect from 01 July 2016, FED on services
provided or rendered by Non-Banking Financial Institutions dealing in services which are subject to provincial sales tax has been
withdrawn by Finance Act, 2016. Therefore, the Scheme has discontinued making the provision in this regard. As a matter of
abundant caution, without prejudice to the above, an accumulated provision of Rs. 11.98 million (30 June 2023: 11.98 million) has
been maintained in the Scheme’s Financial Statements.

The Honorable Sindh High Court (SHC) through its order dated 2 June 2016, in CPD-3184 of 2014 (and others) filed by various
taxpayers, has inter alia declared that Federal Excise Act, 2005 (FED Act) on services, other than shipping agents and related
services, is ultra vires to the Constitution from 01 July 2011. However, the declaration made by the SHC, as directed, will have effect
in the manner prescribed in the judgment. Subsequently, the SHC in its decision dated 30 June 2016 on CP No. D-3547 of 2013 in
respect of constitutional petition filed by management companies of mutual funds maintained the aforesaid order on the FED.

As per the requirement of Finance Act, 2013, Federal Excise Duty (FED) at the rate of 16% on the fee of the RMC has been applied.
The RMC is of the view that since the management fee is already subject to provincial sales tax, further levy of FED may result in
double taxation, which does not appear to be the spirit of the law.

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

The fair value reserve is a capital reserve as it pertains to cumulative net changes in fair value of investment property which is not free
for distribution by way of dividend.

This includes an amount of Rs. 1.69 million (30 June 2023: Rs. 1.69 million) pertaining to Sindh sales tax charged on Federal Excise
Duty (FED) (refer note 14.3).

This represents amounts received from tenants of the investment property as security deposit as on 30 June 2024 amounting to Rs.
546 million (2023: Rs. 498 million) under tenancy agreements. These are maintained in a separate bank account, in accordance with
the requirements of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 2017. These have been classified as current liability as the rental income is
recognized on a straight line basis over the non-cancellable lease term. Non-cancellable lease term includes only the period in which
both parties do not have the right to cancel / terminate the agreement. Due to the fact that it is more likely that the tenants may
substitute their business place from the Scheme's managed premises to other premises, the management has recognized rental
considering the non-cancellable period of six to twelve months.

This represents advance rent received by the Scheme from various tenants in respect of rental and marketing income. The advance
rent from top three tenants amount to Rs.83 million (2023: Rs. 113 million) constituting 89% (2023: 80%) of total advances received. 

Fair value reserve

Under the provisions of REIT Regulations, 2022 (previously REIT Regulations, 2015), RMC is entitled to a management fee as stated
in the Offering Document and Information Memorandum. The Management Company charges fee at the rate of 3% of Net Operating
Income (NOI) of the Scheme as per the Business Plan. The management fee is payable on quarterly basis in arrears. The Sindh
Government has levied Sindh Sales Tax on the management fee of RMC through Sindh Sales Tax on Services Act 2011, effective
from 01 July 2014. The current applicable sales tax rate is 13% being effective from 1 July 2016.

14.4

15 UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND

16 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

There are no contingencies and commitments as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023. 

17 RENTAL INCOME Note 2024 2023
---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

Minimum rent 4,553,121        4,070,769        

Percentage rent 17.1 301,543           247,991           
4,854,664        4,318,760        

17.1 This represents rent charged to tenants based on the percentage of sales made over and above the base rent.

18 MARKETING INCOME 2024 2023
---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

Marketing income 323,640           267,473           

Less: Sales tax on marketing income (19,707)           (9,086)             
303,933           258,387           

19 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATING EXPENSES

Note 2024 2023
---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

Property management fee 19.1 & 19.4 336,095           295,562           
Renovation expense 19.4 181,412           43,403             
Marketing expenses 19.4 67,979             53,557             
Takaful fee 19.4 63,954             31,877             
Common area maintenance charges 19.4 53,309             44,849             
Ancillary income collection fee 19.1 & 19.4 51,263             43,274             
SECP monitoring fee 19.2 22,237             22,237             
Property and advertisement taxes 19.4 17,303             18,187             
Legal and professional charges 10,275             11,909             
Auditor's remuneration 19.3 6,533               4,701               
Printing and stationery expense 2,497               6,495               
Annual listing fee paid to PSX 2,871               2,520               
Utility expenses 19.4 1,176               1,402               
Shariah advisory fee 249                  249                  
Others 659                  49                   

817,812           580,271           

19.1

19.2

19.3 Auditor's remuneration 2024 2023

Audit Service
Fee for annual audit 3,000                              2,200 
Fee for the review of condensed interim financial statements 1,000                                 660 
Fee for review of code of corporate governance 220                                    200 
Certifications / others 740                                    700 
Out of pocket expenses 744                                    240 

5,704                              4,000 

Sindh Sales Tax                   456                   320 
               6,160                4,320 

Non Audit Service
Tax service                   373                   381 

6,533               4,701               

Property management fee and ancillary income collection fee are charged by Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) Limited as a
Property Manager.

---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

Under the provisions of REIT Regulations, 2022 (previously REIT Regulations, 2015), the Trustee is entitled to an annual fee for services
rendered, payable on quarterly basis in arrears. Accordingly, the Trustee charged an annual fee at a rate of 0.5% (30 June 2023: 0.5%) of
the NOI. The Sindh Government has levied Sindh Sales Tax on the trustee fee through Sindh Sales Tax on Services Act 2011, effective
from 01 July 2015. The current applicable rate is 13% being effective from 1 July 2016.

This represents unclaimed dividend payable to the Federal Government as per the Companies Act 2017 (Act), subject to fulfilment /
clarification on certain pre-conditions specified in the Act.

Under the provision of REIT Regulation, 2022, the Scheme is required to pay an annual fee to SECP equal to 0.1% of annual average REIT 
Fund.



Details of the transactions with related parties and balances with them, if not disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements are as follows:

24.2 Transactions during the year:

Name of the related Relationship and percentage 2024 2023
party unitholding

Dolmen Real Estate Property Manager - Common area maintenance charges 53,309        44,849         
Management (Private) Limited - Common area maintenance paid 53,389        51,134         

- Expenses incurred on behalf of the Scheme 2,394          1,797           
- Reimbursement of expenses incurred on 

behalf of the Scheme 2,440          1,828           
- Property management Fee 387,358      338,836       
- Property management Fee paid 375,568      334,140       

Retail Avenue (Private) Limited Common directorship - Rental and marketing income 15,202        13,826         
- Rental received 15,246        13,782         

Al-Feroz (Private) Limited Associated company holding - Rental income 30,969        28,154         
37.5% units - Rental received 30,969        28,154         

- Dividend paid 1,667,775   1,434,287    
- Paid in respect of purchase 

consideration of investment property 910             -               

Dolmen (Private) Limited Associated company holding - Rental income 30,969        28,154         
37.5% units - Rental received 33,081        23,462         

- Dividend paid 1,667,775   1,434,287    
- Paid in respect of purchase 

consideration of investment property 909             -               

Sindbad Wonderland (Private) Limited Common directorship - Rental and marketing income 89,663        80,288         
- Amount received 96,729        73,223         

Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Company - Expenses incurred on behalf of the Scheme 2,968          901              
Management Limited - Reimbursement of expenses incurred 

on behalf of the Scheme 3,019          901              
- Management fee 147,398      134,895       
- Management fee paid 146,456      128,159       

Central Depository Company Trustee - Trustee fee 24,566        22,482         
of Pakistan Limited - Trustee fee paid 24,575        21,359         

24.3 Balances outstanding at the year end:

Name of the related party Relationship and percentage Year end balances 2024 2023
unitholding

Dolmen Real Estate Property Manager - Common area maintenance charges 2,583          2,560           
Management (Private) - Expenses payable incurred on behalf of
Limited the Scheme 1,706          1,752           

- Payable of withheld security deposit of 
tenants 458             458              

- Property Management Fee payable 41,102        29,415         

Al-Feroz (Private) Limited Associated company holding - Rent receivable -              85                
37.5% units - Net payable in respect of purchase 

consideration of investment property -              910              
- Payable against purchase of equipment 

for maintenance 40               40                

Dolmen (Private) Limited Associated company holding - Rent receivable 2,581          4,692           
37.5% units - Net payable in respect of purchase 

consideration of investment property -              909              
- Payable against purchase of equipment 

for maintenance 40               40                

Retail Avenue (Private) Limited Common directorship - Rent and Marketing receivable -              45                

Sindbad Wonderland
(Private) Limited Common directorship - Rent and Marketing receivable -              7,065           

Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Company - Expenses payable incurred on behalf of 
the Scheme -              51                

- Management Fee payable 40,197        39,254         

Central Depository Company Trustee - Trustee Fee payable 6,252          6,261           
of Pakistan Limited

Management Limited

Transactions during the year

---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------
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19.4 These represent direct operating expenses arising from investment property.

20 OTHER INCOME 

Note 2024 2023

Profit on bank deposits and Term deposit 8.1 & 9.1 328,051           243,691           
Liability written back 20.1 10,901             647                  

                       338,952           244,338           

20.1 This pertains to reversal of unearned rent pertaining to prior years against which the tenants did not avail services.

21 TAXATION

22 EARNINGS PER UNIT - BASIC AND DILUTED
Note 2024 2023

Profit for the year 8,140,055        9,291,819        

Weighted average number of ordinary units during the year 2,223,700,000 2,223,700,000 

Earnings per unit - Basic and diluted 22.1 3.66                 4.18                 

22.1 Earnings per unit comprises as follows:

Distributable income - earnings per unit 2.03                 1.83                 
Undistributable unrealized fair value gains - earnings per unit 1.63                 2.35                 

22.1.1 3.66                 4.18                 

22.1.1

22.1.2

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Note 2024 2023

Short-term investments (with original maturity of less than three months) 8 61,544             700,000           
Bank balances 9 1,790,620        1,131,446        

1,852,164        1,831,446        

24 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

24.1

The Board of Directors of the RMC have distributed more than 90% of the Scheme's accounting income for the year as reduced by capital
gains (whether realized or unrealized) to its unit holders in the form of cash to avail the exemption through distribution of interim dividends
during the year and declaration and distribution of final dividend subsequent to year end. Accordingly, no tax provision has been made in
these financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2024.

Related parties include Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited being the Management Company, Central Depository Company of
Pakistan Limited being the Trustee to the Scheme, Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) Limited, being Property Manager and
connected person, associated companies, directors and key executives of the RMC, trustee and promoter of RMC including their close
relatives. 

--------------------------------- (Number of Units) ---------------------------------

-------------------------------------- (Rupees) --------------------------------------

-------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------

-------- (Rupees in '000) ------

The Scheme's income is exempt from Income Tax as per clause (99) of part I of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001,
subject to the condition that not less than 90% of the accounting income for the year as reduced by capital gains whether realized or
unrealized is distributed amongst the unit holders, provided that for the purpose of determining distribution of not less than 90% of its
accounting income for the year, the income distributed through bonus units shall not be taken into account.

    ---------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------------

Transactions with related parties are in the normal course of business, at agreed terms. 

There are no related parties incorporated outside Pakistan with whom the Scheme had entered into transactions during the year.

Under the provisions of Trust Deed, the amount available for distribution shall be total of income and realized gain net off expenses.
Accordingly, unrealized fair value gain is not distributable.

There is no impact of dilution on earnings per unit as the Scheme did not have any convertible instruments in issue as at 30 June 2024 and
30 June 2023 which would have had any effect on the earnings per unit if the option to convert had been exercised.

Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flow comprise of the following statement of financial position amounts:



25 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT OF LIABILITIES TO CASH FLOWS ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

Liability Total
Unclaimed  
dividend

Capital Reserve

Balance as at 1 July 14,827           22,237,000 47,259,347 69,496,347     

Profit for the year -                 -              8,140,055 8,140,055       

Changes from financing cash flows
Dividend paid (4,444,242) -              -                -                 

(4,444,242)     -              -                -                 

Liability - related other changes
Dividend declared 4,447,400      -              (4,447,400)    (4,447,400)      

4,447,400      -              (4,447,400)    (4,447,400)      

Balance as at 30 June 17,985           22,237,000 50,952,002    73,189,002     

Liability Total
Unclaimed  
dividend

Capital Reserve

Balance as at 1 July 13,235           22,237,000 41,792,292    64,029,292

Profit for the year -                 -              9,291,819      9,291,819

Changes from financing cash flows
Dividend paid (3,823,172)     -              -                -                 

(3,823,172)     -              -                -                 
Liability - related other changes
Dividend declared 3,824,764      -              (3,824,764)    (3,824,764)      

3,824,764      -              (3,824,764)    (3,824,764)      

Balance as at 30 June 14,827           22,237,000 47,259,347    69,496,347     

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

26.1 Financial risk management framework

26.2 Credit Risk

The carrying amount of the financial assets represents maximum exposure to credit risk as at 30 June:

Note 2024 2023
Financial Asset 

Rent and marketing receivables 5 99,100 106,175          
Security deposit 6 1,140 959                 
Profit accrued on deposit 17,618 20,314            
Short-term investments 8 61,544 750,700          
Bank balances 9 1,790,620 1,131,446       

1,970,022       2,009,594       

2024
Equity

-------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------

Credit risk is the risk which arises with the possibility that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge its obligation and
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Scheme attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting
transactions with specific counterparties and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties that arises principally
from the Scheme’s rent and marketing receivables, security deposits, short-term investments and bank balances.

---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

2023
Equity

-------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------

The Scheme's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks namely credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk. The Scheme
manage these risk through monitoring and controlling activities which are primarily set up to be performed based on limits
established in the Scheme's constitutive documents and REIT Regulation, 2022 and directives of the SECP. The Board of
Directors of RMC supervises the overall risk management approach within the Scheme.

The RMC and property manager monitors tenants’ balances on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed by the property
manager before lease agreements are entered into with tenants.

The exposure of credit risk and ECL relating to receivables and impairment loss on receivables have been disclosed in note 5 to
these financial statements. 
The Scheme has placed its funds (i.e. short-term investments and bank balances) with banks having credit ratings not less than
AA. The credit quality of Scheme's major balances can be assessed with reference of external credit ratings which is as follows:

Bank  Rating  Short term Long term 
 Agency rating rating

Dubai Islamic Bank  VIS A-1+ AA 1,373,815      74.17%
Bank Al Habib Limited PACRA A-1+ AAA 217,451         11.74%
National Bank of Pakistan VIS A-1+ AAA 71,373          3.85%
Askari Bank Limited  PACRA A-1+ AA+ 70,182          3.79%
Habib Bank Limited VIS A-1+ AAA 68,725          3.71%
Meezan Bank Limited VIS A-1+ AAA 50,422          2.72%
Faysal Bank Limited VIS A-1+ AA 179               0.01%
Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited PACRA A-1+ AA+ 17                 0.00%
United Bank Limited VIS A-1+ AAA -                0.00%

1,852,164      100%
Break-up:
Cash at bank 1,790,620      
Term deposit receipts placed with banks 61,544          

1,852,164      

Bank Rating Short term Long term 
Agency rating rating

Dubai Islamic Bank VIS A-1+ AA 1,045,854      55.57%
Askari Bank Limited PACRA A-1+ AA+ 758,674         40.31%
National Bank of Pakistan PACRA A-1+ AAA 43,679          2.32%
Habib Bank Limited VIS A-1+ AAA 33,681          1.79%
Faysal Bank Limited PACRA A-1+ AA 173               0.01%
Meezan Bank Limited VIS A-1+ AAA 45                 0.00%
Bank Al Habib Limited PACRA A-1+ AAA 23                 0.00%
United Bank Limited VIS A-1+ AAA 17                 0.00%
Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited PACRA A-1+ AA+ -                0.00%

1,882,146      100%
Break-up:
Cash at bank 1,131,446      
Term deposit receipts placed with banks 750,700         

1,882,146      
26.3 Liquidity risk

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

One year or 
less

More than one 
year

Financial liabilities
Security deposits 545,993 545,993 545,993 -                 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities* 115,426 115,426 115,426 -                 
Payable to REIT Management Company - related party 40,197 40,197 40,197 -                 
Unclaimed dividend 17,985 17,985 17,985 -                 

719,601         719,601      719,601         -                 

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

One year or 
less

More than 
one year

Financial liabilities
Security deposits 497,688         497,688      497,688         -                 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities* 89,494           89,494        89,494          -                 
Payable to REIT Management Company - related party 39,305           39,305        39,305          -                 
Unclaimed dividend 14,827           14,827        14,827          -                 

641,314         641,314      641,314         -                 

*Other liabilities that are not financial liabilities (unearned income, sales tax and withholding income tax payable and federal excise 
duty amount to Rs. 126.2 million, Rs. 8.13 million and Rs. 11.9 million). It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity 
analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

The table below analyses the Scheme's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
reporting date to the maturity date. 

2024

2023

------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------

% of total 
balance

2023
(Rupees in 

'000)
% of total 
balance

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Scheme will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial assets. The Scheme’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Scheme’s reputation.

------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------

2024
(Rupees in 

'000)
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26.4 Market risk
 

26.4.1 Currency risk

26.4.2 Interest rate risk

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

100 bps 100 bps 100 bps 100 bps 
increase decrease increase decrease

As at 30 June 2024
Cash flow sensitivity - variable rate instruments 18,522 (18,522) 18,522 (18,522)

As at 30 June 2023
Cash flow sensitivity - variable rate instruments 18,821 (18,821) 18,821 (18,821)

26.4.3 Other price risk

27 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

2024 2023

Debt -                -                 
Total unit holders' fund 73,189,002    69,496,347     
Total capital 73,189,002    69,496,347     

-                -

The Scheme does not have any fixed rate financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss, therefore, the Scheme is not
exposed to fair value changes for fixed rate instruments. However the bank and term deposit at variable rates expose the Scheme
to fluctuations in cash flow due to change in market profit rates. The cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate of instrument is
depicted below:

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) equity and profit by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as carried out as June 2023. 

Profit Equity

------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------------

The Scheme manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash in bank accounts. At 30 June 2024, the Scheme had financial
assets of Rs. 1,971 million (2023: Rs. 2,010 million), which include Rs 1,790 million (2023: Rs 1,131 million) of cash placed in
bank accounts.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the
market price. Market risk comprise of three types of risks: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cashflows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. It arises where receivables and payable exist due to transactions in foreign currency. The Scheme is not exposed
to currency risk as of reporting date. There are no foreign currency denominated financial instruments held by the Scheme.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The interest rate exposure arises from bank balances and investments in term deposit receipts (TDRs) in
profit or loss.

Management's objective when managing unit holder's funds is to safeguard the Scheme's ability to continue as a going concern so
that it can continue to provide optimum returns based on income earned and realized gains as per trust deed to its unit holders
and to ensure reasonable safety of unit holder's funds. The Scheme is not exposed to externally imposed minimum unit holder's
maintenance requirement.

The Scheme manages its investment property and other assets by monitoring return on net assets and makes adjustment to it in
the light of changes in market conditions. The Scheme has nil borrowing as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.

------- (Rupees in '000) -------

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk). The Scheme is not exposed to other price risk.

28 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

28.1 Accounting classifications and fair values of financial instruments

Note Financial assets 
'at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

income'

Financial 
assets 'at fair 
value through  
profit or loss'

Financial 
assets 'at 
amortized 

cost'

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets - not
measured at fair value

Rent and marketing receivables 28.1.1                           -                         -              99,100                   -             99,100                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Security deposit 28.1.1                           -                         -                1,140                   -               1,140                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Profit accrued on deposit 28.1.1                           -                         -              17,618                   -             17,618                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Short-term investments 28.1.1                           -                         -              61,544                   -             61,544                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Bank balances 28.1.1                           -                         -         1,790,620                   -        1,790,620                   -                     -                     -                     -   

                          -                         -         1,970,022                   -        1,970,022                   -                     -                     -                     -   
 

Financial liabilities - not  
measured at fair value

Payable to REIT Management
Company - related party 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -             40,197 40,197          

                  -                     -                     -                     -   

Security deposits 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -           545,993 545,993                          -                     -                     -                     -   
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -           115,426 115,426                          -                     -                     -                     -   
Unclaimed dividend 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -             17,985 17,985                            -                     -                     -                     -   

                          -                         -                     -           719,601 719,601                          -                     -                     -                     -   

Note Financial assets 'at 
fair value through 

other 
comprehensive 

income'

Financial assets 
'at fair value 

through  profit or 
loss'

Financial 
assets 'at 
amortized 

cost'

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets - not
measured at fair value

Rent and marketing receivables 28.1.1                           -                         -            106,175                   -           106,175                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Security deposit 28.1.1                           -                         -                   959                   -                  959                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Profit accrued on deposit 28.1.1                           -                         -              20,314                   -             20,314                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Short-term investments 28.1.1                           -                         -            750,700                   -           750,700                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Bank balances 28.1.1                           -                         -         1,131,446                   -        1,131,446                   -                     -                     -                     -   

                          -                         -         2,009,594                   -        2,009,594                   -                     -                     -                     -   
 

Financial liabilities - not  
measured at fair value

Payable to REIT Management  
Company - related party 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -             39,305 39,305          

                  -                     -                     -                     -   

Security deposits 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -           497,688 497,688                          -                     -                     -                     -   
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -             89,494 89,494                            -                     -                     -                     -   
Unclaimed dividend 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -             14,827 14,827                            -                     -                     -                     -   

                          -                         -                     -           641,314 641,314                          -                     -                     -                     -   

28.1.1

28.1.2 Fair value hierarchy of the investment property has been disclosed in note 4 to these financial statements.

29 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

30 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the REIT Management Company on _____________________ 2024.

______________________ ___________________
Chief Financial Officer Director

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Scheme uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based 
on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information
for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

2024

Level 1 : Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 : Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 : Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable inputs).

 ________________________
Chief Executive Officer

The Board of Directors of the RMC in their meeting held on 15 July 2024 have declared and approved final cash dividend for the year ended 30 June 2024 of Re. 0.5 per unit (June 2023: Re. 0.5
per unit) amounting to Rs. 1,111.850 million (June 2023: Rs. 1,111.850 million). The financial statements do not include the effect of above announcement which will be accounted for in the
financial statements of the Scheme for the year ending 30 June 2025.

Carrying amount Fair value

The Scheme has not disclosed fair values for these financial assets and financial liabilities because their carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------

2023
Carrying amount Fair value

---------------------------------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------
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Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive Officer Director

25 October
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26.4 Market risk
 

26.4.1 Currency risk

26.4.2 Interest rate risk

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

100 bps 100 bps 100 bps 100 bps 
increase decrease increase decrease

As at 30 June 2024
Cash flow sensitivity - variable rate instruments 18,522 (18,522) 18,522 (18,522)

As at 30 June 2023
Cash flow sensitivity - variable rate instruments 18,821 (18,821) 18,821 (18,821)

26.4.3 Other price risk

27 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

2024 2023

Debt -                -                 
Total unit holders' fund 73,189,002    69,496,347     
Total capital 73,189,002    69,496,347     

-                -

The Scheme does not have any fixed rate financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss, therefore, the Scheme is not
exposed to fair value changes for fixed rate instruments. However the bank and term deposit at variable rates expose the Scheme
to fluctuations in cash flow due to change in market profit rates. The cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate of instrument is
depicted below:

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) equity and profit by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as carried out as June 2023. 

Profit Equity

------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------------

The Scheme manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash in bank accounts. At 30 June 2024, the Scheme had financial
assets of Rs. 1,971 million (2023: Rs. 2,010 million), which include Rs 1,790 million (2023: Rs 1,131 million) of cash placed in
bank accounts.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the
market price. Market risk comprise of three types of risks: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cashflows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. It arises where receivables and payable exist due to transactions in foreign currency. The Scheme is not exposed
to currency risk as of reporting date. There are no foreign currency denominated financial instruments held by the Scheme.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The interest rate exposure arises from bank balances and investments in term deposit receipts (TDRs) in
profit or loss.

Management's objective when managing unit holder's funds is to safeguard the Scheme's ability to continue as a going concern so
that it can continue to provide optimum returns based on income earned and realized gains as per trust deed to its unit holders
and to ensure reasonable safety of unit holder's funds. The Scheme is not exposed to externally imposed minimum unit holder's
maintenance requirement.

The Scheme manages its investment property and other assets by monitoring return on net assets and makes adjustment to it in
the light of changes in market conditions. The Scheme has nil borrowing as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.

------- (Rupees in '000) -------

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk). The Scheme is not exposed to other price risk.

28 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

28.1 Accounting classifications and fair values of financial instruments

Note Financial assets 
'at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

income'

Financial 
assets 'at fair 
value through  
profit or loss'

Financial 
assets 'at 
amortized 

cost'

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets - not
measured at fair value

Rent and marketing receivables 28.1.1                           -                         -              99,100                   -             99,100                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Security deposit 28.1.1                           -                         -                1,140                   -               1,140                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Profit accrued on deposit 28.1.1                           -                         -              17,618                   -             17,618                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Short-term investments 28.1.1                           -                         -              61,544                   -             61,544                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Bank balances 28.1.1                           -                         -         1,790,620                   -        1,790,620                   -                     -                     -                     -   

                          -                         -         1,970,022                   -        1,970,022                   -                     -                     -                     -   
 

Financial liabilities - not  
measured at fair value

Payable to REIT Management
Company - related party 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -             40,197 40,197          

                  -                     -                     -                     -   

Security deposits 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -           545,993 545,993                          -                     -                     -                     -   
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -           115,426 115,426                          -                     -                     -                     -   
Unclaimed dividend 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -             17,985 17,985                            -                     -                     -                     -   

                          -                         -                     -           719,601 719,601                          -                     -                     -                     -   

Note Financial assets 'at 
fair value through 

other 
comprehensive 

income'

Financial assets 
'at fair value 

through  profit or 
loss'

Financial 
assets 'at 
amortized 

cost'

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets - not
measured at fair value

Rent and marketing receivables 28.1.1                           -                         -            106,175                   -           106,175                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Security deposit 28.1.1                           -                         -                   959                   -                  959                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Profit accrued on deposit 28.1.1                           -                         -              20,314                   -             20,314                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Short-term investments 28.1.1                           -                         -            750,700                   -           750,700                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Bank balances 28.1.1                           -                         -         1,131,446                   -        1,131,446                   -                     -                     -                     -   

                          -                         -         2,009,594                   -        2,009,594                   -                     -                     -                     -   
 

Financial liabilities - not  
measured at fair value

Payable to REIT Management  
Company - related party 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -             39,305 39,305          

                  -                     -                     -                     -   

Security deposits 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -           497,688 497,688                          -                     -                     -                     -   
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -             89,494 89,494                            -                     -                     -                     -   
Unclaimed dividend 28.1.1                           -                         -                     -             14,827 14,827                            -                     -                     -                     -   

                          -                         -                     -           641,314 641,314                          -                     -                     -                     -   

28.1.1

28.1.2 Fair value hierarchy of the investment property has been disclosed in note 4 to these financial statements.

29 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

30 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the REIT Management Company on _____________________ 2024.

______________________ ___________________
Chief Financial Officer Director

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Scheme uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based 
on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information
for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

2024

Level 1 : Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 : Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 : Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable inputs).

 ________________________
Chief Executive Officer

The Board of Directors of the RMC in their meeting held on 15 July 2024 have declared and approved final cash dividend for the year ended 30 June 2024 of Re. 0.5 per unit (June 2023: Re. 0.5
per unit) amounting to Rs. 1,111.850 million (June 2023: Rs. 1,111.850 million). The financial statements do not include the effect of above announcement which will be accounted for in the
financial statements of the Scheme for the year ending 30 June 2025.

Carrying amount Fair value

The Scheme has not disclosed fair values for these financial assets and financial liabilities because their carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------

2023
Carrying amount Fair value

---------------------------------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------

 252024
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Key Metrics FY 2024 FY 2023 
Opening Price PKR 13.75 PKR 13.67 
Closing Price PKR 16.45 PKR 13.68 
Average Price PKR 14.11 PKR 13.74 
Dividend  PKR 2.00 PKR 1.81 
Price Return 19.64% 0.07% 
Total Return 34.18% 13.31% 
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